
 
Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer, T W 
Mortimer LLB Solicitor 

C  

 

 

 

To the Members of the Borough Council 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a Meeting of the Ashford Borough Council, to be 
held in the Council Chamber - Ashford Borough Council on Thursday, 27th April, 2023 
at 7.00 pm. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 
T W Mortimer 
Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer 
 
 
Agenda 
  Page Nos.  
1.   Apologies 

 
 

 
2.   To consider whether any items should be dealt with in private 

because of the likely disclosure of Exempt or Confidential 
Information 
 

 

 
3.   Declarations of Interest 

 
5 - 6 

 To declare any interests which fall under the following categories, as explained on 
the attached document: 

a)    Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) 
b)    Other Significant Interests (OSI) 
c)    Voluntary Announcements of Other Interests 

  
See agenda item 3 for further details 
  

  
 

 

 
4.   To confirm the Minutes of the Council Meeting held on the 2nd 

March 2023 
 

7 - 26 

 
5.   To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader or other 

Members of the Cabinet 
 

 

 
6.   To receive any petitions 

 
 

 



 

 

7.   To receive any questions from, and provide answers to, the 
public (being resident of the Borough) which in the opinion of the 
Mayor are relevant to the business of the Meeting 
 

 

 
8.   To receive the Minutes of the Meeting of the Audit Committee 

held on the 21st March 2023 
 

27 - 34 

 
9.   Greater Ashford Borough Environment and Land Mapping 

Commission 
 

35 - 64 

 
10.   Ashford Borough Council Constitution 

 
65 - 68 

 
11.   To consider Motions of which Notice has been given pursuant to 

Procedure Rule 11 
 

 

 
12.   Questions by Members of which Notice has been given pursuant 

to Procedure Rule 10 
 

 

 NOTE: - If debate on any item included within this Agenda gives rise to the 
need to exclude the press and public due to the likelihood of Exempt or 
Confidential information being disclosed the following resolution may be 
proposed and seconded and if carried, the press and public will be 
requested to leave the meeting for the duration of the debate. 
That pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
this item as it is likely that in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the public 
were present there would be disclosure of exempt information hereinafter 
specified by reference to the appropriate paragraphs of Schedule 12A to the 
Act, where in the circumstances the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

  
 

 

 
13.   To Consider Passing the Following Resolution to Exclude the 

Public 
 

 

 That pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
as amended the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item as it is likely in view of the nature of 
the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if 
members of the public were present there would be disclosure of 
exempt information hereinafter specified by reference to Paragraphs 1, 
3 and 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 

 
14.   Possible Indemnity for a Councillor 

 
69 - 74 

 
   
21 April 2023 
 



 

 

Queries concerning this agenda?  Please contact Member Services 
Telephone: (01233) 330349 Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk  
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: https://www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk 

 
 

mailto:membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
https://www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Declarations of Interest (see also “Advice to Members” below) 
 
(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 2011, relating to items on 

this agenda.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared, and 
the agenda item(s) to which it relates must be stated. 
 
A Member who declares a DPI in relation to any item will need to leave the meeting for that 
item (unless a relevant Dispensation has been granted). 

 
(b) Other Significant Interests (OSI) under the Kent Code of Conduct relating to items on this 

agenda.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared, and the 
agenda item(s) to which it relates must be stated. 
 
A Member who declares an OSI in relation to any item will need to leave the meeting before 
the debate and vote on that item (unless a relevant Dispensation has been granted).  
However, prior to leaving, the Member may address the Committee in the same way that a 
member of the public may do so. 

 
(c) Voluntary Announcements of Other Interests not required to be disclosed under (a) and 

(b), i.e. announcements made for transparency alone, such as: 
 
• Membership of amenity societies, Town/Community/Parish Councils, residents’ groups or 

other outside bodies that have expressed views or made representations, but the Member 
was not involved in compiling or making those views/representations, or 

 
• Where a Member knows a person involved, but does not have a close association with 

that person, or 
 
• Where an item would affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, 

employer, etc. but not his/her financial position. 
 
 [Note: Where an item would be likely to affect the financial position of a Member, relative, 

close associate, employer, etc.; OR where an item is an application made by a Member, 
relative, close associate, employer, etc., there is likely to be an OSI or in some cases a DPI. 
ALSO, holding a committee position/office within an amenity society or other outside body, or 
having any involvement in compiling/making views/representations by such a body, may give 
rise to a perception of bias and require the Member to take no part in any motion or vote.] 

 
Advice to Members on Declarations of Interest:   
(a) Government Guidance on DPI is available in DCLG’s Guide for Councillors, at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5962/2193362.pdf 
 

(b) The Kent Code of Conduct was adopted by the Full Council on 19 July 2012, 
and a copy can be found in the Constitution alongside the Council’s Good Practice Protocol 
for Councillors dealing with Planning Matters. See  https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/2098/z-word5-
democratic-services-constitution-2019-constitution-of-abc-may-2019-part-5.pdf  

 
(c) Where a Member declares a committee position or office within, or membership of, an outside 

body that has expressed views or made representations, this will be taken as a statement 
that the Member was not involved in compiling or making them and has retained an open 
mind on the item(s) in question. If this is not the case, the situation must be explained. 

 
If any Member has any doubt about any interest which he/she may have in any item on this 
agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring 
Officer, or from other Solicitors in Legal and Democracy as early as possible, and in advance 
of the Meeting. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5962/2193362.pdf
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/2098/z-word5-democratic-services-constitution-2019-constitution-of-abc-may-2019-part-5.pdf
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/2098/z-word5-democratic-services-constitution-2019-constitution-of-abc-may-2019-part-5.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



C 
 
 

411 
 

Ashford Borough Council 
 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Ashford Borough Council held in the Council Chamber, 
Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford on the 2nd March 2023. 
 
Present: 
 
Her Worshipful the Mayor, Cllr. J A Webb (Chairman);  
 
Cllrs. Anckorn, Barrett, Bartlett, Mrs Bell, Bell, Blanford, Brooks, Buchanan, Burgess, 
Campkin, Chilton, Clarkson, Cornish, Farrell, Feacey, Forest, Harman, Hayward, B 
Heyes, Howard, Howard-Smith, Iliffe, Knowles, Krause, Ledger, Link, Meaden, 
Michael, Mulholland, Nilsson, Ovenden, Pauley, Pickering, Rogers, Shorter, Smith, 
Spain, Sparks, C Suddards, L Suddards, Turner, Walder, Wedgbury. 
 
Prior to the commencement of the meeting Members remained standing for a period 
of silence in respect of the late John Holland who was the Borough Council Member 
for the Washford Ward between 2003 and 2011 and Mayor of the Borough in 
2009/10, and in respect of Anthony Leonard Hale who was the Borough Council 
Member for the Tenterden South East Ward between 1987 and 1999 and Honorary 
Alderman, who had both passed away recently. The Reverend Dr Sue Starkings 
then said prayers. 
 
Apologies:  
 
Cllrs. Clokie, T Heyes, Wright. 
 
Also Present: 
 
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring 
Officer, Director of Customer, Technology and Finance, Member Services Manager. 
 
325 Exempt or Confidential Items 
 
The Mayor asked whether any items should be dealt with in private because of the 
likely disclosure of Exempt or Confidential information.  There were none. 
 
326 Declarations of Interest 
 
 
Councillor Interest 

 
Minute No. 

Bartlett 
 

Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as a Member of 
Kennington Community Council and Sevington with 
Finberry Parish Council. 

332 
 
 

   
Campkin Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as a Member of 

South Willesborough and Newtown Parish Council. 
 

332 
 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



C 
020323 
 

412 
 

 
327 Minutes 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on the 22nd December 2022 
be approved and confirmed as a correct record. 
  
328 Announcements 
 
(a) The Mayor 
 
The Mayor advised that because of the importance of this Council Meeting she had 
decided to keep her update brief.  

Councillor Interest 
 

Minute No. 

Chilton Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as Chair of 
Stanhope Parish Council. 
 

332 

Feacey Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as Chairman of 
the Ashford International Development Company. 
 

332 

Harman Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as Chair of 
Aldington and Bonnington Parish Council. 
 

332 

Hayward Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as a Member of 
Stanhope Parish Council. 
 

332 

Iliffe Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as a Member of 
Kennington Community Council. 
 

332 

Knowles Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as a Member of 
Tenterden Town Council. 
 

332 

Ledger Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as Vice-Chair of 
Shadoxhurst Parish Council. 
 

332 

Mulholland Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as a Member of 
Tenterden Town Council. 
 

332 

Ovenden Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as a Member of 
Wye with Hinxhill Parish Council. 
 

332 

Rogers Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as Vice-Chair of 
South Willesborough and Newtown Parish Council. 
 

332 

Wedgbury Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as a Member of 
Kingsnorth Parish Council and a Shop Steward for 
the USDAW Trade Union. 
 

332 

Page 8



 C 
020323 

 

413 
 

She had continued to attend and enjoy community events and felt that the Council 
should be proud of its achievements particularly with regard to play areas that had 
become a reality through Councillors, Portfolio Holders, Officers, Parish Councils 
and residents all working together.  There was nothing more rewarding than hearing 
children laughing and playing in a safe environment to be enjoyed by all.  This had 
been especially evident at the opening of the new facilities at Spearpoint. 
 
The Mayor said she would like to remind colleagues about her upcoming Charity 
events for Singleton Spaces and looked forward to Members supporting this 
worthwhile environmental charity.  On Friday 10th March at 7pm she would be 
hosting a Murder Mystery Night and Buffet – ‘A Taste for Murder’ which was now 
sold out. However, other events included her Civic Ball with two course dinner and 
entertainment from ABBA Chique on Saturday 25th March at 7pm at London Beach 
Hotel.  The last few tickets were left at £45.  On Tuesday 18th April at 2.30pm there 
would be a Musical Afternoon Tea Party at the Jean Mealham Pop-In Centre 
Woodchurch.  Tickets for this were only £10 for a lovely afternoon of music and 
cake. On Saturday 29th April at 7pm there was a Curry and Quiz Night at the London 
Beach Hotel.  Tables of 8 or smaller numbers to join tables were welcomed. Tickets 
for this were £20 including a curry supper and prizes to be won.  Finally, on Saturday 
20th May at 6.30pm the Mayor would be hosting her finale Bat Walk and Buffet at the 
Singleton Environment Centre, which would be great fun.  If anyone was interested 
in joining her at any of these events, please contact Donna Sowerby. 
 
The Mayor advised that there was an important march programmed for this coming 
Sunday (5th March 2023) to mark International Women’s Day and this would once 
again highlight Ashford’s Safer Streets Strategy.  She wanted to take this opportunity 
to thank two particular Councillors.  Firstly, Councillor Peter Feacey for his initiation 
of, and continued steadfast commitment to, Ashford’s Safer Streets Strategy by 
promoting and working with Officers, Police and Charlton Athletic to make Ashford’s 
streets safer.  Also to Councillor Lyn Suddards for her passion and commitment 
ensuring that Ashford celebrated International Women’s Day annually and ensured 
that the Safer Streets Strategy commitment was maintained as a high profile.  She 
appreciated all the work that Councillor Suddards put in to arranging such marches 
and she implored all Councillors, both female and male, to support the march and its 
important message that coming Sunday. 
 
(b) Leader of the Council 
 
The Leader said that he had a few relevant matters that he wished to bring to the 
attention of Members. 
 
Firstly, as Members and Officers would know, Michael Gove had announced the 
setting up of "Oflog" - The Office for Local Government in June last year.  On the 
10th February he and the Chief Executive had received a letter from Lord Morse, 
indicating that he had been appointed as the interim Chair of Oflog.  Lord Morse had 
indicated that this new body had the objective of highlighting the work of Local 
Government, shining a light on excellence and providing data about the performance 
of Authorities.  It sought to strengthen local Leaders’ knowledge of their services 
even further and to assist Central Government to better identify trends.  
 
The Leader said he was sure that colleagues would have been pleased to note that 
just four days ago, on the 27th February, the Marriage and Civil Partnership 

Page 9



C 
020323 
 

414 
 

(Minimum Age) Act 2022 came into force. It meant that no one below the age of 18 
would be allowed to marry or enter into civil partnerships, even if they had parental 
consent.  Since 2012, many developed western democracies had raised the age of 
marriage to 18 in an effort to protect adolescents, particularly girls, from forced 
marriages.  This Act came into force just a week or so before International Women's 
Day, on the 8th March which, as mentioned by the Mayor, the Council was 
recognising this coming Sunday.   
 
Further to the subject of safety, he also wanted to record Members’ thanks to 
Officers for arranging a very moving presentation in the Council Chamber last 
Thursday by the "Acting-Up” Drama Company from Homewood School.  The drama 
was called "It’s About Your Son", written by Deborah Cook, an acclaimed star from 
East Enders and acted out very effectively by the young students.  There had not 
been a large number of Members present and he hoped they may be able to repeat 
the performance in the future as it had been very thought provoking. 
 
The Leader said he was pleased to confirm that they had reached agreement with 
Unison, the Council’s recognised Union for collective bargaining, for the staff pay 
award for the year 2023/24. Clearly negotiations had been difficult this year due to 
the spiralling cost of living and the wider  national context, with many public sector 
Unions taking strike action.  However they had worked collaboratively with Unison, 
and jointly engaged with staff more widely through the Joint Consultative Committee 
representatives.  The final offer made by management was a 5% rise across the 
board, plus a £250 one-off  (non-consolidated) payment for officers at grades MG8 
and below.  He was advised that turnout for the ballot was high, and 73% of Unison 
members voted to accept the offer put forward.  Fortunately, financial colleagues had 
made provision for up-to a 5% award in the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for 
2023/24.  They were therefore in a reasonable position in that this would not place 
an unexpected pressure on the MTFP.  This pay award was higher than any across 
the board award they had made in recent years, but had to be if they were to pay 
staff rates of pay that could sustain their families.  The award was consistent with 
other Authorities in Kent and that was important if they were to retain and attract 
good Officers to help deliver the Administration’s priorities.  Nationally, they were 
currently seeing how protracted pay negotiations could be and this relatively swift 
agreement was testament to the good working relationships they had with their local 
Unison branch and the regional team that supported them.  He wanted to thank all 
involved on behalf of the Members of the Authority. 
 
He concluded be advising that the Council’s current waste contractor Biffa had been 
in negotiation with the GMB Union, representing the staff they employed for the 
Council’s waste collection.  He was pleased to say that had, just the previous 
morning, had their final offer accepted by their staff and thus a strike had been 
averted.  They all knew just how well they had been served by the waste collection 
service and it was good that this was now settled and their staff could continue the 
good work.  The final settlement was higher than they had predicted and would add 
about £1.2m of budget pressure over the five years of the MTFP. He advised that 
when they came to Item 11 on the Agenda, the Budget, he would be proposing a 
revised Motion.  

Page 10



 C 
020323 

 

415 
 

329 Licensing Committee – 17th January 2023 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Licensing Committee held on the 17th 
January 2023 be approved and adopted. 
 
330 Regulatory Committee – 17th January 2023 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Regulatory Committee held on the 17th 
January 2023 be approved and adopted. 
 
331 Cabinet – 23rd February 2023. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That subject to the expiry of the period by which decisions arising from the 
Meeting of the Cabinet held on the 23rd February may be called in, i.e. 8th March 
2023:-  
 
           (i) the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on the 23rd 

February 2023 be received and noted with the exception of Minute 
Nos. 311 and 314. 

 
 (ii) Minute No. 314 be approved and adopted. 
 
 (iii) the recommendations in Minute No. 311 be deferred for 

consideration as part of the agenda item dealing with the Budget 
and Council Tax Resolutions 2023/24. 

 
332 Council Tax Resolutions and General Fund Budget 

2023/24 and Minute Number 311/2/23. 
 
The Leader of the Council advised that he would be moving a motion in a revised 
form from the Cabinet recommendation.  By way of explanation, Members would 
have noted in his earlier announcements that there had been events that had 
affected the Council’s budget provisions.  This had been as a consequence of the 
conclusion of the pay negotiations between the Council’s refuse contractor and their 
recognised Trade Union.  The outcome of those negotiations had had an impact on 
the Council’s budget to the extent of about £1.2m over the course of the Medium 
Term Financial Plan, so it meant that whilst they had hoped to limit their increase in 
Council Tax it was no longer possible to do so.  He was therefore recommending 
that the Council reverted to the level of increase that was included in the draft budget 
and publicly consulted upon.  This meant that Recommendation (i) from the Cabinet 
be revised from an overall budget requirement of £18,642,710 to £18,703,840 and 
that Recommendation (iii) be revised from a Band D council tax of £181.25 to 
£182.50.  This would be a rise of just £5, in line with what had been done in recent 
years.  The Council Tax resolutions that had been circulated with the agenda would 

Page 11



C 
020323 
 

416 
 

be amended accordingly and he asked colleagues to support this sensible change to 
the budget.  
 
The Leader of the Council therefore proposed:- 
 
“That the budget recommendations as set out in Minute No. 311 of the Cabinet and 
the formal Council Tax resolutions for 2023/24 be approved, subject to 
Recommendation (i) being revised to an overall budget requirement of £18,703,840, 
and Recommendation (iii) being revised to a Band D council tax of £182.50.” 
 
This was seconded. 
 
The Leader also advised that in accordance with Procedure Rule 15.4A a recorded 
vote was required to be taken on the budget recommendations and any 
amendments moved and seconded during the debate. 
 
The Mayor then invited the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 
report on that Committee’s scrutiny of the Cabinet’s initial budget proposals. 
Councillor Ovenden advised that this was the second time in a matter of months that 
he had felt ‘blindsided’ by late information coming forward about the budget.  A 
colleague had said that this year’s budget had been like “nailing jelly to a wall” and 
he had to agree.  Budget Scrutiny this year had proven almost impossible to do but 
he thanked those Officers involved for their efforts and assistance.  The Task Group 
had originally found this year’s draft budget to be “sound and deliverable” based on 
the information available at that time and with a recognition that it would be 
supported by the reserve built up for that purpose – the Economic Resilience 
Reserve.  The Task Group had also made a series of recommendations to be taken 
forward.  The draft budget then came to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
changed and the Committee had made more recommendations, including asking the 
Cabinet to return to the £5 Council Tax increase as proposed in the draft budget. 
The Cabinet had initially rejected that proposal at their meeting last week, but now, 
for whatever reason, they were now prosing that figure.  He was pleased to see this 
as it was the sensible decision.  He still considered this year’s budget was 
deliverable, but he was beginning to question the phrase “sound” and a significant 
amount of work would be needed for all involved to identify ongoing savings.  
 
Councillor Campkin said that, as ever, he could not support any budget that 
proposed any tax rise with any de facto service cuts.  He said that he had attended 
last week’s Cabinet meeting heard a very good case from the Leader for the 
proposed budget and a very good argument from the Leader of the Opposition for 
increasing the Council Tax further, all within, of course, the wider context of current 
national and global issues.  The War in Ukraine had been mentioned, as was Covid, 
but Brexit had been conspicuous by its absence.  What he had also seen was an 
attempt to speak past the elephant in the room - “austerity”.  He said that for 13 
years Local Authorities had been struggling to do more with less, and working class 
people had got less for more, and this budget proposed both a tax rise and de-facto 
cuts in services.  He believed people were leaving the public sector, not because 
they didn’t feel they were paid enough or they had had a better offer, but because 
they just could not do their jobs any more.  He considered Council Tax should 
subsidise general taxation, not replace it, but every year this Council was forced to 
do more with less and charge those least able to afford it for services they had 
already paid for.  13 years of austerity had meant that there were children 

Page 12



 C 
020323 

 

417 
 

considering what GCSEs they would take to set themselves up for the rest of their 
lives who had no idea what free adult education was, or what a properly funded 
Local Authority was actually capable of.  Ashford Borough Council had done more 
than just survive through those years, to the credit of the Chief Executive and the 
Leader, but he wondered what more could have been achieved if Government 
funding had not been slashed year after year.  The Leader had proudly proclaimed 
that as soon as the EU referendum vote was announced he had ordered the creation 
of the Ashford Economic Resilience Reserve, and that this has also got us through 
Covid and helped with the current cost of living crisis.  Whilst this had been clever, it 
just showed that the Council recognised what those in Westminster were doing and 
took precautions.  However, they hadn’t done anything about it, they hadn’t spoken 
out and they didn’t try to prevent any of it.  If they had it may have been a futile 
gesture, but that would have been better than nothing.  Instead they had kept their 
heads down, bid for grants, applied for funding and begged for scraps from the table 
and praised their overlords when those scraps fell.  This had all been at a time when 
the Government were partying, sliding multi-billion pound contracts to their friends 
and telling everyone that Austerity was here to stay because they would not 
renationalise the utilities that residents couldn’t afford, they wouldn’t tax the big 
corporations and they would not fund Local Authorities properly.  They also wouldn’t 
tax the oil companies that were reporting record profits, and spend that money on 
transitioning to renewable energy to mitigate climate change and they would not tax 
the billionaires that own the mainstream media.  Councillor Campkin said he thought 
this country was falling apart and beginning to eat itself alive and as futile as it may 
be, someone had to stand up and say something.  It was not fair on their residents, it 
was not fair on their staff and it was not fair on the Members of this Council.  The 
country had one Group who were forced to defend Austerity because their 
predecessors brought it in, another Group who were not allowed to mention it 
because they planned to continue it and a third group that understandably did not 
want to engage with the nasty, mudslinging, national politics that they are all victims 
of.  He was in a privileged position of being able to say all the things that others 
either could not or would not and he could get away with voting against this budget.  
He could make a principled stand without having to face the consequences.  It was 
with regret that he could not support this budget. 
 
Councillor Chilton said he would join with the Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny in 
thanking those Officers and Members who had contributed to the Budget Scrutiny 
process.  He also wanted to thank the current Portfolio Holder for Finance who was 
stepping down as a Member in May.  He had always been a good and decent man 
and he wished him well for the future.  He said that in his 12 years on the Council 
this had been the first year where they had genuinely not been sure what would be 
on the papers at each meeting and the situation seemed to change almost minute by 
minute.  He contended the reason put forward by the Leader for the late change 
having anything to do with the refuse service and thought it was actually because the 
Administration knew they would lose the vote on its original proposal.  He quoted 
from the original Medium Term Financial Plan report which stated “whilst this version 
of the MTFP can be funded from reserves, the current economic conditions could 
lead to an unsustainable long term financial position if the deficit is not properly 
addressed. In the event that the Council’s S151 Statutory Officer had concern over 
the long term financial health of the Council then they would be legally required to 
issue as S114 notice to raise the concern with Government. It is the opinion of the 
S151 officer that at the moment the Council is not in this position but should 
affirmative action not be taken to find the necessary savings identified to address the 

Page 13



C 
020323 
 

418 
 

MTFP deficit, then we could slowly move in that direction”.  A S144 notice meant 
bankruptcy, and this was not something he had seen in any reports before during his 
time on the Council and had made him feel uneasy.  With reference to the ongoing 
savings needed, he considered current advice remained extremely ‘woolly’ and 
thought that every resident and every Member needed more information on the full 
range of savings proposed so they were aware of what was being proposed for the 
future.  He considered that a detailed schedule should be made available to all 
Members ahead of the next Cabinet meeting in March.  Councillor Chilton also 
mentioned the proposed 7% increase in rents which and was concerned about the 
impact on some of the Council’s tenants.  He thought this was something that the 
Council needed to keep a close eye on and be careful with. 
 
He moved the following amendment to the Motion: 
 
“That the full programme of savings, for this year and the years ahead, be published 
and provided to Members ahead of the next Cabinet Meeting”. 
 
This was seconded 
 
Councillor Shorter, as Portfolio Holder for Finance, IT and Digital, said it was 
important to point out that there were two strands to the savings – those one-off 
savings identified for this year and others which would be year on year that were still 
being worked on.  Appendix O of the budget report did identify the broad areas that 
were being looked at and it had already been agreed that Overview and Scrutiny 
would be provided with more detail and be able to scrutinise the delivery of those 
savings, but that information was not likely to be ready in the next few weeks and 
would be a job for the new Administration after May.  
 
Councillor Mrs Bell said she would be supporting the revised proposal moved by the 
Leader, although she would have preferred a smaller increase in the Council Tax.  
The key message was that this Conservative Administration had been prepared to 
examine lower levels of Council Tax and that sound financial management over the 
years had retained Ashford’s position as one of the lowest Council Taxes in Kent.  
 
Councillor Bernard Heyes advised that he was uncomfortable with the proposed 
Council Tax rise and would be voting against the revised Motion. 
 
Councillor Ovenden said that he had previously spoken in his role as Chairman of 
Overview and Scrutiny, but as a Member of this Council he continued to have 
concerns about the ongoing sustainability of this budget.  He was also ashamed at 
the amount of Political games being played and statements being made.  He would 
love to see National Politics kept out of this Chamber and the concentration be kept 
on what was best for residents.  He would be supporting the proposals on this year’s 
budget for precisely that reason.  Ashford was still offering one of the lowest Council 
Taxes in Kent, and did offer good value to its residents, but he did have concerns 
going forward.  
 
The Leader of the Council said it would be difficult to accommodate the amendment, 
purely because much more work was needed to identify and ‘flesh out’ the longer 
term savings.  With just eight weeks to go until the elections, he did not feel proper 
justice could be done to that work in time and it would be a job for the new 
Administration.  This Administration had achieved a lot and not reduced services to 

Page 14



 C 
020323 

 

419 
 

the public.  Their record showed that they had actually increased services. 
 
Councillor Farrell, as seconder of the amended Motion said he continued to support 
Councillor Chilton’s addition to the Motion. 
 
Councillor Chilton said he would like to maintain his original addition to the Motion.  
His main concern was that he did not know how many of the Members currently in 
this Chamber would still be in place after May and the statement that “proposals 
were still being worked on” was not sufficient.  He understood that the Administration 
may not wish to publish further details before the elections as it would amount to a 
‘list of cuts’ but he thought both Members and residents were entitled to know further 
information on these savings proposals.  
 
A vote on the amendment put forward by Councillor Chilton was taken.  This was 
lost. 
 
Councillor Bartlett as seconder of the original Motion said that there appeared to be 
some element of broad consensus over the £5 rise in Council Tax.  This budget 
proposed no cuts to statutory services and there were policies in place to assist 
those suffering exceptional hardship.  It was accepted that further efficiencies were 
needed and he knew that they would come so he urged all colleagues to support this 
budget so the Council could get on with the job in hand.  
 
A recorded vote was then taken on the original motion moved by the Leader and 
seconded by the Deputy Leader and the Members voted as follows: - 
 
For: Councillors Barrett, Bartlett, Mrs Bell, Bell, Blanford, Brooks, 

Buchanan, Burgess, Clarkson, Cornish, Feacey, Forest, Harman, 
Hayward, Howard, Howard-Smith, Iliffe, Krause, Ledger, Link, Michael, 
Mulholland, Ovenden, Pauley, Pickering, Rogers, Shorter, Smith, 
Sparks, Webb. 

Votes For 30 
 

Against: Councillors Anckorn, Campkin, Chilton, Farrell, B Heyes, Knowles, 
Meaden, Nilsson, Spain, C Suddards, L Suddards, Turner, Walder, 
Wedgbury.  

Votes Against 14 
 

Abstentions: None 
Abstentions 0 

 
Resolved: 
 
That (i) the Budget for 2023/24 as recommended by the Cabinet in Minute 

No. 311 be approved, subject to Recommendation (i) being 
revised to an overall budget requirement of £18,703,840, and 
Recommendation (iii) being revised to a Band D council tax of 
£182.50. 

 
 (ii) the formal Council Tax resolutions set out below be approved. 
 
 

Page 15



C 
020323 
 

420 
 

1. It be noted that on 27 October 2022 the Cabinet calculated: 

a. The Council Tax Base for 2023/24 for the whole Council area as 
48,906 (Item T in the formula in Section 31B(3) of the Local 
Government Act 1992, as amended (the “Act”)) and, 

b. For dwellings in those parts of its area to which a Parish precept 
relates as in the attached Table A. 

2. Calculation that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes 
for 2023/24 (excluding Parish precepts) is £8,925,340 (Tables D and E). 

3. That the following amounts be calculated for the year 2023/24 in accordance 
with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act:  
 

106,847,705 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act taking into account all precepts 
issued to it by Parish Councils. 

95,303,220 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act. 

11,544,485 being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated by the Council in accordance with 
Section 31A(4) of the Act as its Council Tax requirement for the year. 
(Item R in the formula in Section 31A(4) of the Act). 

236.05 being the amount at 3(c) above (Item R), all divided by Item T (2 above), 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B(1) of the Act, as 
the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year (including Parish 
precepts).(Annex C) 

2,619,145 being the aggregate amount of all special items (Parish precepts) referred 
to in Section 34(1) of the Act (as per the attached Annex B). 

                
182.50  

being the amount at 3(d) above less the result given by dividing the 
amount at 3(e) above by Item T (2 above), calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of its 
Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which no 
Parish precept relates.  ( Annex D & E) 

 
DELIBERATELY LEFT BLANK 
 

Page 16



 C 
020323 

 

421 
 

TABLE A 
Tax Base for Parish Precepts (Which are part of the Council’s area) – Band D 
equivalent properties) * 

 

 
 

* Note: Band D Equivalent Tax base for the unparished area is 12,875 
 

Page 17



C 
020323 
 

422 
 

TABLE B 
 
Billing Authority share of Council Tax including Parish Precept 
 

 

 
 

PARISH BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H

Aldington & Bonnington 179.58 209.50 239.43 269.36 329.22 389.07 448.94 538.72
Appledore 166.93 194.74 222.57 250.39 306.04 361.67 417.32 500.78
Bethersden 156.66 182.77 208.88 234.99 287.21 339.43 391.65 469.98
Biddenden 153.68 179.28 204.90 230.51 281.74 332.96 384.19 461.02
Bilsington 153.46 179.03 204.61 230.19 281.35 332.50 383.65 460.38
Boughton Aluph and Eastwell 143.86 167.82 191.80 215.78 263.74 311.68 359.64 431.56
Brabourne 157.94 184.25 210.58 236.90 289.55 342.19 394.84 473.80
Brook 175.09 204.26 233.45 262.63 321.00 379.35 437.72 525.26
Challock 151.63 176.89 202.17 227.44 277.99 328.52 379.07 454.88
Charing 209.53 244.44 279.37 314.29 384.14 453.97 523.82 628.58
Chilham 166.46 194.19 221.94 249.68 305.17 360.65 416.14 499.36
Crundale (PM) 125.22 146.08 166.95 187.82 229.56 271.29 313.04 375.64
Egerton 175.22 204.42 233.62 262.83 321.24 379.64 438.05 525.66
Godmersham 147.72 172.34 196.96 221.58 270.82 320.06 369.30 443.16
Great Chart with Singleton 200.48 233.89 267.30 300.72 367.55 434.37 501.20 601.44
Hastingleigh 147.53 172.11 196.70 221.29 270.47 319.64 368.82 442.58
High Halden 151.01 176.17 201.34 226.51 276.85 327.18 377.52 453.02
Hothfield 159.52 186.10 212.69 239.28 292.46 345.63 398.80 478.56
Kenardington 161.42 188.32 215.22 242.13 295.94 349.74 403.55 484.26
Kennington 140.54 163.96 187.38 210.81 257.66 304.50 351.35 421.62
Kingsnorth 159.51 186.09 212.67 239.26 292.43 345.60 398.77 478.52
Little Chart 152.40 177.79 203.19 228.59 279.39 330.18 380.99 457.18
Mersham 151.44 176.67 201.91 227.15 277.63 328.10 378.59 454.30
Molash 146.10 170.44 194.79 219.14 267.84 316.53 365.24 438.28
Newenden 182.83 213.29 243.77 274.24 335.19 396.12 457.07 548.48
Orlestone 142.88 166.69 190.50 214.32 261.95 309.57 357.20 428.64
Pluckley 186.52 217.59 248.68 279.77 341.95 404.11 466.29 559.54
Rolvenden 153.22 178.74 204.28 229.82 280.90 331.96 383.04 459.64
Ruckinge 143.11 166.95 190.81 214.66 262.37 310.06 357.77 429.32
Sevington 132.14 154.16 176.18 198.21 242.26 286.30 330.35 396.42
Shadoxhurst 146.90 171.37 195.86 220.34 269.31 318.27 367.24 440.68
Smarden 165.08 192.59 220.10 247.62 302.65 357.67 412.70 495.24
Smeeth 163.42 190.65 217.89 245.13 299.61 354.08 408.55 490.26
South Willesborough & Newtown 159.65 186.25 212.86 239.47 292.69 345.90 399.12 478.94
Stanhope 136.80 159.60 182.40 205.20 250.80 296.40 342.00 410.40
Stone 139.67 162.94 186.22 209.50 256.06 302.61 349.17 419.00
Tenterden (TC) 233.65 272.58 311.53 350.47 428.36 506.23 584.12 700.94
Warehorne 142.76 166.54 190.34 214.13 261.72 309.30 356.89 428.26
Westwell 158.77 185.22 211.69 238.15 291.08 343.99 396.92 476.30
Wittersham 163.34 190.55 217.78 245.00 299.45 353.89 408.34 490.00
Woodchurch 156.19 182.21 208.25 234.28 286.35 338.40 390.47 468.56
Wye with Hinxhill 215.16 251.01 286.87 322.73 394.45 466.16 537.89 645.46
Unparished Area 121.67 141.94 162.22 182.50 223.06 263.61 304.17 365.00

Page 18



 C 
020323 

 

423 
 

TABLE C 
Council Tax Charge per Band 
 

 
 

PARISH BAND A BAND B BAND C BAND D BAND E BAND F BAND G BAND H

Aldington & Bonnington 1,422.70 1,659.81 1,896.92 2,134.04 2,608.27 3,082.50 3,556.74 4,268.08
Appledore 1,410.05 1,645.05 1,880.06 2,115.07 2,585.09 3,055.10 3,525.12 4,230.14
Bethersden 1,399.78 1,633.08 1,866.37 2,099.67 2,566.26 3,032.86 3,499.45 4,199.34
Biddenden 1,396.80 1,629.59 1,862.39 2,095.19 2,560.79 3,026.39 3,491.99 4,190.38
Bilsington 1,396.58 1,629.34 1,862.10 2,094.87 2,560.40 3,025.93 3,491.45 4,189.74
Boughton Aluph and Eastwell 1,386.98 1,618.13 1,849.29 2,080.46 2,542.79 3,005.11 3,467.44 4,160.92
Brabourne 1,401.06 1,634.56 1,868.07 2,101.58 2,568.60 3,035.62 3,502.64 4,203.16
Brook 1,418.21 1,654.57 1,890.94 2,127.31 2,600.05 3,072.78 3,545.52 4,254.62
Challock 1,394.75 1,627.20 1,859.66 2,092.12 2,557.04 3,021.95 3,486.87 4,184.24
Charing 1,452.65 1,694.75 1,936.86 2,178.97 2,663.19 3,147.40 3,631.62 4,357.94
Chilham 1,409.58 1,644.50 1,879.43 2,114.36 2,584.22 3,054.08 3,523.94 4,228.72
Crundale (PM) 1,368.34 1,596.39 1,824.44 2,052.50 2,508.61 2,964.72 3,420.84 4,105.00
Egerton 1,418.34 1,654.73 1,891.11 2,127.51 2,600.29 3,073.07 3,545.85 4,255.02
Godmersham 1,390.84 1,622.65 1,854.45 2,086.26 2,549.87 3,013.49 3,477.10 4,172.52
Great Chart with Singleton 1,443.60 1,684.20 1,924.79 2,165.40 2,646.60 3,127.80 3,609.00 4,330.80
Hastingleigh 1,390.65 1,622.42 1,854.19 2,085.97 2,549.52 3,013.07 3,476.62 4,171.94
High Halden 1,394.13 1,626.48 1,858.83 2,091.19 2,555.90 3,020.61 3,485.32 4,182.38
Hothfield 1,402.64 1,636.41 1,870.18 2,103.96 2,571.51 3,039.06 3,506.60 4,207.92
Kenardington 1,404.54 1,638.63 1,872.71 2,106.81 2,574.99 3,043.17 3,511.35 4,213.62
Kennington 1,383.66 1,614.27 1,844.87 2,075.49 2,536.71 2,997.93 3,459.15 4,150.98
Kingsnorth 1,402.63 1,636.40 1,870.16 2,103.94 2,571.48 3,039.03 3,506.57 4,207.88
Little Chart 1,395.52 1,628.10 1,860.68 2,093.27 2,558.44 3,023.61 3,488.79 4,186.54
Mersham 1,394.56 1,626.98 1,859.40 2,091.83 2,556.68 3,021.53 3,486.39 4,183.66
Molash 1,389.22 1,620.75 1,852.28 2,083.82 2,546.89 3,009.96 3,473.04 4,167.64
Newenden 1,425.95 1,663.60 1,901.26 2,138.92 2,614.24 3,089.55 3,564.87 4,277.84
Orlestone 1,386.00 1,617.00 1,847.99 2,079.00 2,541.00 3,003.00 3,465.00 4,158.00
Pluckley 1,429.64 1,667.90 1,906.17 2,144.45 2,621.00 3,097.54 3,574.09 4,288.90
Rolvenden 1,396.34 1,629.05 1,861.77 2,094.50 2,559.95 3,025.39 3,490.84 4,189.00
Ruckinge 1,386.23 1,617.26 1,848.30 2,079.34 2,541.42 3,003.49 3,465.57 4,158.68
Sevington 1,375.26 1,604.47 1,833.67 2,062.89 2,521.31 2,979.73 3,438.15 4,125.78
Shadoxhurst 1,390.02 1,621.68 1,853.35 2,085.02 2,548.36 3,011.70 3,475.04 4,170.04
Smarden 1,408.20 1,642.90 1,877.59 2,112.30 2,581.70 3,051.10 3,520.50 4,224.60
Smeeth 1,406.54 1,640.96 1,875.38 2,109.81 2,578.66 3,047.51 3,516.35 4,219.62
South Willesborough & Newtown 1,402.77 1,636.56 1,870.35 2,104.15 2,571.74 3,039.33 3,506.92 4,208.30
Stanhope 1,379.92 1,609.91 1,839.89 2,069.88 2,529.85 2,989.83 3,449.80 4,139.76
Stone 1,382.79 1,613.25 1,843.71 2,074.18 2,535.11 2,996.04 3,456.97 4,148.36
Tenterden (TC) 1,476.77 1,722.89 1,969.02 2,215.15 2,707.41 3,199.66 3,691.92 4,430.30
Warehorne 1,385.88 1,616.85 1,847.83 2,078.81 2,540.77 3,002.73 3,464.69 4,157.62
Westwell 1,401.89 1,635.53 1,869.18 2,102.83 2,570.13 3,037.42 3,504.72 4,205.66
Wittersham 1,406.46 1,640.86 1,875.27 2,109.68 2,578.50 3,047.32 3,516.14 4,219.36
Woodchurch 1,399.31 1,632.52 1,865.74 2,098.96 2,565.40 3,031.83 3,498.27 4,197.92
Wye with Hinxhill 1,458.28 1,701.32 1,944.36 2,187.41 2,673.50 3,159.59 3,645.69 4,374.82
Unparished Area 1,364.79 1,592.25 1,819.71 2,047.18 2,502.11 2,957.04 3,411.97 4,094.36

Page 19



C 
020323 
 

424 
 

TABLE D 
 

 
 
 
DELIBERATELY LEFT BLANK 
 

                   £                £

Gross Expenditure - General Fund 70,788,040

Gross Expenditure - HRA 33,440,520

Parish Precepts 2,619,145
106,847,705

Less Gross Income (85,524,720)
(85,524,720)

NET EXPENDITURE 21,322,985

Government Grant (614,500)
New Homes Bonus (1,662,000)
Retained Business Rates (7,502,000)

(9,778,500)

BUDGET REQUIREMENT 11,544,485

Less Parish Precepts (2,619,145)

Council Tax Requirement 8,925,340

Council Tax Base 48,906

Band 'D' Council Tax 182.50

Average including Parishes 236.05

 CALCULATION OF THE BUDGET REQUIREMENT 
AND COUNCIL TAX AT BAND D 

Page 20



 C 
020323 

 

425 
 

TABLE E 
 

 
 
333 Standards Committee – 31st January 2023 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Standards Committee held on the 31st 
January 2023 be received and noted. 
 
334 Annual Report of the Council’s Monitoring Officer 

2022 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Annual Report of the Council’s Monitoring Officer 2021 be received 
and noted. 
 
335 Programme of Meetings 2023/24 and 2024/25 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Programme of Meetings for 2022/23 and 2023/24 as appended to these 
Minutes be adopted. 
 
______________________________ 

Projected 
Outturn Service 

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24

£ £ £ £

2,401,462 2,330,930 2,185,675 Finance and IT 3,097,440
459,471 630,340 611,330 HR, Customer Services, Comms and Digitalisation 660,810

1,230,828 1,258,790 1,658,174 Housing 1,531,120
1,100,645 761,160 940,876 Safety Wellbeing and Port 1,379,940
6,519,565 5,266,170 5,792,898 Environment, Property and Recreation 6,757,090
2,782,453 2,356,110 2,682,144 Planning and Development 2,636,170

568,344 935,400 1,388,660 Corporate Management Costs 833,600
656,187 629,790 675,321 Head of Economic Development 776,190

1,387,271 1,442,240 1,421,519 Head of Performance and Policy 1,677,140
413,879 410,510 326,940 Solicitor to The Council and Monitoring Officer 413,560

17,520,104 16,021,440 17,683,537 Service Expenditure 19,763,060

(2,620,776) (2,153,740) (1,653,740) Capital Charges & Net Interest (734,500)
139,740 0 0 Revenue Funding of Capital Expenditure 0
275,964 282,000 282,000 Levies 325,000
601,292 1,944,200 1,856,320 Contribution to/(from) Balances (649,720)

15,916,324 16,093,900 18,168,117 ABC Budget Requirement 18,703,840
Income

(2,592,133) (485,000) (485,000) Government Grant (614,500)
(3,699,900) (4,685,000) (4,685,000) Retained Business Rates (7,502,000)
(1,908,222) (1,886,050) (1,886,050) New Homes Bonus (1,662,000)
(7,755,310) (9,037,850) (9,037,850) Council Tax (8,925,340)

(39,242) 0 2,074,217 0

REVENUE BUDGET  

SERVICE SUMMARY 

Actuals Budget Budget

Page 21



C 
020323 
 

426 
 

 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Queries concerning these Minutes?  Please contact Member Services 
Telephone: 01233 330349   Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk  
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk  

Page 22

mailto:membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/


           Appendix 1 
 

DATES OF MEETINGS MAY 2023 - MAY 2025 
 

Meetings are usually held at the Civic Centre and start at 7.00pm unless otherwise stated 
 

427 
 

MAY 2023 
 
M 1 BANK HOLIDAY  
Tu 2  
W 3  
Th 4 ABC ELECTIONS 
F 5  
 
M 8 BANK HOLIDAY 
Tu 9  
W 10  
Th 11   
F 12 
 
M 15  
Tu 16  
W 17  
Th 18 Selection & CR 
F 19 
 
M   22  
Tu 23  
W 24  
Th 25 Council 
F 26 
 
M 29 BANK HOLIDAY 
T 30 
W  31 
 
JUNE 2023  
  
Th    1   
F 2  
 
M 5  
Tu 6 Joint Transportation 
W 7 Planning 
Th 8  
F 9  
 
M 12  
Tu 13 O&S 
W 14  
Th 15  
F 16   
 
M 19  
T    20  Audit 5pm 
W  21  
Th  22  
F 23 
 
M 26 
Tu 27 
W 28 
Th 29 Cabinet 
F 30 
 
JULY 2023 
 
M 3  
Tu 4  
W 5 Planning 
Th 6  
F 7  
 
M 10  
Tu 11 O&S 

W 12  
Th   13 JCC 2.30pm  
F 14  
 
M 17 
Tu  18  
W 19  
Th 20 Council 
F    21 
 
M 24 
T 25  
W 26  
Th 27 Cabinet 
F 28 
 
M 31 
 
AUGUST 2023 
   
Tu 1  
W 2  
Th 3  
F 4  
 
M 7  
Tu 8 O&S 
W 9 Planning 
Th 10  
F 11  
 
M 14  
Tu 15  
W 16  
Th 17  
F 18 
 
M 21 
Tu 22  
W 23 
Th 24  
F 25 
 
M  28 BANK HOLIDAY 
Tu 29 TEB 10am 
W 30 
Th 31 Cabinet 
 
SEPTEMBER 2023 
    
F 1  
 
M 4  
Tu 5 Joint Transportation 
W 6 Planning 
Th 7  
F 8  
 
M 11 
Tu 12 O&S  
W 13  
Th 14 JCC 2.30pm 
F 15  
 
M 18  
Tu 19  
W   20    
Th  21  
F 22 

 
M 25 
Tu 26  
W 27 
Th 28 Cabinet 
F 29   
 
OCTOBER 2023 
 
M 2  
Tu 3 Audit 5pm 
W 4 Planning 
Th 5  
F 6  
 
M 9  
Tu 10 O&S 
W 11  
Th  12  
F 13  
 
M 16  
Tu 17  
W 18  
Th 19 Council 
F 20 
 
M 23 
Tu 24  
W 25 
Th 26 Cabinet 
F 27 
 
M 30 
Tu 31 
 
NOVEMBER 2023 
 
W 1  
Th 2  
F 3  
 
M 6  
Tu 7  
W 8 Planning  
Th 9 JCC 2.30pm 
F 10  
 
M 13  
Tu 14 O&S 
W 15  
Th 16  
F 17  
 
M   20 
Tu  21   
W 22  
Th 23  
F 24 
 
M 27 
Tu 28 TEB 10am 
W 29 
Th 30 Cabinet 

Page 23



C 
020323 
 

428 
 

DECEMBER 2023 
 
F 1   
 
M 4  
Tu 5 Joint Transportation 
W 6  
Th 7  
F 8  
 
M 11  
Tu 12 O&S 
W 13 Planning 
Th 14 Council 
F 15  
 
M 18  
Tu 19 Audit 5pm 
W 20  
Th  21  Cabinet 
F    22  
 
M 25 CHRISTMAS DAY 
Tu 26 BOXING DAY 
W 27 OFFICES CLOSED 
Th 28 
F 29 
    
 
JANUARY 2024 
 
M 1 NEW YEAR’S DAY 
Tu 2  
W 3  
Th 4  
F 5  
 
M 8  
Tu 9  
W 10  
Th 11 JCC 2.30pm 
F 12  
 
M 15  
Tu 16 Licensing/Regulatory  
  10am/10.30am 
W 17 Planning 
Th 18 
F 19 
 
M   22   
Tu 23  
W 24  
Th 25 Cabinet 
F 26 
 
M 29 
Tu 30 Standards 
W 31   
 
* No O&S meeting in  
January due to Budget  
Scrutiny  
 
FEBRUARY 2024 
 
Th 1  
F 2  
 
M 5  
Tu  6  
W 7  

Th 8  
F 9  
 
M 12  
Tu 13 O&S 
W 14 Planning 
Th 15  
F 16  
 
M 19  
Tu 20  
W 21  
Th 22  
F  23 
 
M 26 
Tu 27 TEB 10am 
W 28 
Th 29 Cabinet 
 
 MARCH 2024 
  
F 1  
 
M 4  
Tu 5 Joint Transportation 
W 6  
Th 7 Council (C Tax) 
F 8  
 
M 11  
Tu 12 O&S 
W 13 Planning 
Th 14 JCC 2.30pm 
F 15  
 
M 18   
Tu 19 Audit 5pm 
W   20  
Th 21 Cabinet 
F 22 
 
M 25 
Tu 26 
W 27 
Th 28  
F 29 GOOD FRIDAY 
 
APRIL 2024 
 
M 1 EASTER MONDAY 
Tu 2  
W 3  
Th 4  
F 5  
 
M 8  
Tu 9 O&S 
W 10  
Th 11   
F 12  
 
M 15  
Tu  16  
W   17 Planning  
Th 18  
F    19 
 
M 22  
Tu  23  
W   24  

Th 25 Cabinet 
F 26 
 
M 29 
Tu 30  
 
MAY 2024 
  
W 1  
Th 2 GENERAL?/PCC 

ELECTIONS 
F 3   
 
M 6 BANK HOLIDAY 
Tu 7 Selection & CR 
W 8  
Th 9    JCC 2.30pm 
F 10  
 
M 13  
Tu 14 O&S 
W 15 Planning 
Th 16 Council 
F 17  
 
M   20   
Tu 21  
W 22  
Th 23  
F 24 
 
M  27 BANK HOLIDAY 
Tu 28 TEB 10am 
W 29 
Th 30 Cabinet 
F 31 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 - School Holidays 
 

KEY

O&S - Overview and 
Scrutiny 

JCC - Joint 
Consultative 
Committee

Page 24



 C 
020323 

 

429 
 

MAY 2024 
  
W 1  
Th 2 GENERAL?/PCC 

ELECTIONS 
F 3   
 
M 6 BANK HOLIDAY 
Tu 7 Selection & CR 
W 8  
Th 9    JCC 2.30pm 
F 10  
 
M 13  
Tu 14 O&S 
W 15 Planning 
Th 16 Council 
F 17  
 
M   20   
Tu 21  
W 22  
Th 23  
F 24 
 
M  27 BANK HOLIDAY 
Tu 28 TEB 10am 
W 29 
Th 30 Cabinet 
F 31 
 
JUNE 2024  
 
M 3  
Tu 4 Joint Transportation 
W 5  
Th 6  
F 7 
 
M 10  
Tu 11 O&S 
W 12 Planning 
Th 13  
F 14   
 
M 17  
T    18  Audit 5pm 
W  19  
Th  20  
F 21 
 
M 24 
Tu 25 
W 26 
Th 27 Cabinet 
F 28 
 
JULY 2024 
 
M 1  
Tu 2  
W 3  
Th 4  
F 5  
 
M 8  
Tu 9 O&S 
W 10 Planning 
Th   11 JCC 2.30pm  
F 12  
 
M 15 

Tu  16  
W 17  
Th 18 Council 
F    19 
 
M 22 
T 23  
W 24  
Th 25 Cabinet 
F 26 
 
M 29 
Tu 30 
W 31 
 
AUGUST 2024 
   
Th 1  
F 2  
 
M 5  
Tu 6  
W 7  
Th 8  
F 9  
 
M 12  
Tu 13 O&S 
W 14 Planning 
Th 15  
F 16 
 
M 19 
Tu 20  
W 21 
Th 22  
F 23 
 
M  26 BANK HOLIDAY 
Tu 27 TEB 10am 
W 28 
Th 29 Cabinet 
F 30 
 
SEPTEMBER 2024 
 
M 2  
Tu 3 Joint Transportation 
W 4  
Th 5  
F 6  
 
M 9 
Tu 10 O&S  
W 11 Planning 
Th 12 JCC 2.30pm 
F 13  
 
M 16  
Tu 17  
W   18    
Th  19  
F 20 
 
M 23 
Tu 24  
W 25 
Th 26 Cabinet 
F 27 
 
M 30   
 

OCTOBER 2024 
 
Tu 1 Audit 5pm 
W 2  
Th 3  
F 4  
 
M 7  
Tu 8 O&S 
W 9 Planning 
Th  10  
F 11  
 
M 14  
Tu 15  
W 16  
Th 17 Council 
F 18 
 
M 21 
Tu 22  
W 23 
Th 24  
F 25 
 
M 28 
Tu 29 
W 30 
Th 31 Cabinet 
 
NOVEMBER 2024 
 
F 1  
 
M 4  
Tu 5  
W 6   
Th 7  
F 8  
 
M 11  
Tu 12 O&S 
W 13 Planning 
Th 14 JCC 2.30pm 
F 15  
 
M   18 
Tu  19  
W 20  
Th 21  
F 22 
 
M 25 
Tu 26 TEB 10am 
W 27 
Th 28 Cabinet 
F 29 

Page 25



C 
020323 
 

430 
 

DECEMBER 2024 
 
M 2  
Tu 3 Joint Transportation 
W 4  
Th 5  
F 6  
 
M 9  
Tu 10 O&S 
W 11 Planning 
Th 12 Council 
F 15  
 
M 16  
Tu 17 Audit 5pm 
W 18  
Th  19  Cabinet 
F    20  
 
M 23  
Tu 24  
W 25 CHRISTMAS DAY 
Th 26 BOXING DAY 
F 27 OFFICES CLOSED 
 
M 30 
Tu 31 
    
JANUARY 2025 
 
W 1 NEW YEAR’S DAY 
Th 2  
F 3  
 
M 6  
Tu 7  
W 8  
Th 9 JCC 2.30pm 
F 10  
 
M 13  
Tu 14  
W 15 Planning 
Th 16 
F 17 
 
M   20   
Tu 21 Licensing/Regulatory  
  10am/10.30am 
W 22  
Th 23 Cabinet 
F 24 
 
M 27 
Tu 28  
W 29 
Th 30 
F 31   
 
* No O&S meeting in  
January due to Budget  
Scrutiny  
 
FEBRUARY 2025 
 
M 3  
Tu  4 Standards 
W 5  
Th 6  
F 7  
 

M 10  
Tu 11 O&S 
W 12 Planning 
Th 13  
F 14  
 
M 17  
Tu 18  
W 19  
Th 20  
F  21 
 
M 24 
Tu 25 TEB 10am 
W 26 
Th 27 Cabinet 
F 28 
 
 MARCH 2025 
 
M 3  
Tu 4 Joint Transportation 
W 5  
Th 6 Council (C Tax) 
F 7  
 
M 10  
Tu 11 O&S 
W 12 Planning 
Th 13 JCC 2.30pm 
F 14  
 
M 17   
Tu 18 Audit 5pm 
W   19  
Th 20  
F 21 
 
M 24 
Tu 25 
W 26 
Th 27 Cabinet 
F 28  
 
M 31 
 
APRIL 2025 
  
Tu 1  
W 2  
Th 3  
F 4  
 
M 7  
Tu 8 O&S 
W 9  
Th 10   
F 11  
 
M 14  
Tu  15  
W   16 Planning  
Th 17  
F    18 GOOD FRIDAY 
 
M 21 EASTER MONDAY 
Tu  22  
W   23  
Th 24 Cabinet 
F 25 
 

M 28 
Tu 29 
W 30  
 
MAY 2025 
  
Th 1 KCC ELECTIONS 
F 2   
 
M 5 BANK HOLIDAY 
Tu 6 Selection & CR 
W 7  
Th 8    JCC 2.30pm 
F 9  
 
M 12  
Tu 13 O&S 
W 14 Planning 
Th 15 Council 
F 16  
 
M   19   
Tu 20  
W 21  
Th 22  
F 23 
 
M  26 BANK HOLIDAY 
Tu 27 TEB 10am 
W 28 
Th 29 Cabinet 
F 30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 - School Holidays 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KEY

O&S - Overview and 
Scrutiny 

JCC - Joint 
Consultative 
Committee

Page 26



AU 
 

 
441 

 

Ashford Borough Council: Audit Committee 
 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Audit Committee held in Committee Room 2, Civic 
Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford on the 21st April 2023. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr. Krause (Chair); 
Cllr. Buchanan (Vice-Chair); 
 
Cllrs. Harman, Shorter, Spain, Wright.  
 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 1.2(c) Councillor Harman attended as Substitute 
Member for Councillor Hayward.  
 
Apologies:  
 
Cllrs. Hayward, Smith.  
 
Also in Attendance (virtually):  
 
Cllr. Ledger.  
 
Finance Service Lead, Head of Policy & Performance, Policy & Scrutiny Officer. 
 
In attendance:  
 
Deputy Chief Executive, Head of Internal Audit, Senior Auditor, Senior Auditor, 
Assistant Director Planning and Development, Team Leader - Plan Making and 
Infrastructure, Assistant Director Safety and Wellbeing, Safety and Wellbeing 
Manager, Senior Accountant, Policy & Democratic Services Assistant, Senior 
Member Services Officer.   
 
Audit Manager – Grant Thornton UK 
 
350 Minutes 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on the 19th November 
2022 be approved and confirmed as a correct record. 
 
351 Declarations of Interest  
 
Councillor Interest Minute No. 

 
Shorter Made a Voluntary Announcement as he was the 

Portfolio Holder for Finance at the time of the 
cessation of the Council’s cash contractor.  
 

353 
 
 
 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 8



AU 
210323 
 

 
442 

 

Made a Voluntary Announcement as he was the 
Portfolio Holder for the item.  
   

358 

352 Section 106 Audit – Weak Assurance Report – Follow 
Up 

 
The Assistant Director Planning and Development introduced the report.  He drew 
attention to the three remaining actions, the Arcus software would provide the final 
solutions for these, however he could confirm that the actions were met now.  The 
solutions were not the most effective and automatic, however once the software was 
fully operational these would become automated.  The Team Leader - Plan Making 
and Infrastructure advised that there had been additional work required to resolve 
functionality issues, which had involved the software designers and IT support.  He 
confirmed that this work would be finalised within weeks.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit confirmed that as part of the audit, 21 recommendations 
had been made, three of which were outstanding and were covered by the report 
before the Committee.  From an Internal Audit perspective there were manual 
controls in place, however there were better and more efficient ways to operate 
which had led to the recommendations.  As part of their monitoring process they 
would continue to monitor the recommendations and would report back on this as 
part of the end of year report to the Committee.  
 
In response to questions from the Committee, the Assistant Director Planning and 
Development confirmed that post election training sessions will be held for ABC 
Councillors and Parish Councillors on the planning portal.  It was important to hold 
these sessions to ensure that all were aware of the functionality of the portal and 
how it could be used by them in their roles.  
 
A Member questioned why the report made references to ‘can’ instead of definitives 
such as ‘does’ or ‘will’.  The Team Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure confirmed 
that these actions were deliverable, however they had been waiting the transfer of 
data and updates to Arcus before being able to put these into place.  He confirmed 
that they would be delivered.   
 
The Chair highlighted an issue in relation to planning enforcement on a particular 
site, which he would raise with the Assistant Director Planning and Development 
outside of the meeting.    
 
Resolved:  
 
That the Audit Committee  
 

(i) notes the progress made towards the actions raised as part of the audit 
and the progress toward the Overview & Scrutiny S106 Task Group 
recommendations.  
 

(ii) subject to the outcome of the final review in April, considers the actions 
from the audit to have been met.   

 
 

Page 28



AU 
210323 

 

 
443 

 

353 Parking Cash Collection – Partial Weak Assurance  
 
The Head of Internal Audit drew attention to the report and advised that the audit had 
focussed on three areas; interim cash collection, processing and banking 
arrangements; contract monitoring of the current cash collection contract and 
progress towards removal of coin payment from parking machines.  A split 
assurance had been issued, with the latter two areas being found ‘sound’ and the 
first area ‘weak’.  The weak assurance rating reflected deficiencies in some key 
areas in relation to the interim arrangements for collecting, processing and banking 
cash following an unplanned event arising from the Council’s cash collection 
contractor ceasing trading with no notice.   
 
The Assistant Director Safety and Wellbeing wished to extend her thanks to the 
Senior Auditor for the audit and the recommendations that had emanated from that.  
The situation they had found themselves in had been most unusual and unexpected, 
as the Council’s cash collection contractor had ceased trading with no notice 
requiring cash to be removed from the parking machines in the Borough by the 
service.  The contractor had been appointed as part of a joint contract with other 
Councils and had been managed by Tunbridge Wells, which had led to 
complications when trying to appoint a replacement.  The audit had provided a way 
to reflect and highlight lessons learnt, and had been received by the service in a 
positive manner.  At the time of this incident occurring the Council had been 
conscious of the risk faced by those officers who had taken on the task of collecting 
and transporting the cash from the parking machines.  If this situation were to repeat 
itself, then there were key points that would be actioned including; no longer taking 
cash from the parking machines (until an alternative cash collection contract were in 
place) and ensuring audit tickets from terminals were secured upon them being 
emptied by the Civic Enforcement Officers or others as applicable.  The Assistant 
Director Safety and Wellbeing confirmed that Business Continuity Plans had been 
updated in accordance with the recommendations from the audit.   
 
A Member, who at the time of the cessation of the Council’s cash contractor had 
been the Portfolio Holder for Finance, confirmed that he had been aware of the 
interim arrangements in place and had been satisfied with those.   
 
There was some discussion regarding the removal of coin payments from parking 
machines.  Some Councillors urged this to be considered with great care, as there 
was a risk of excluding residents or visitors to the Borough who did not have access 
to alternative payment methods.   
 
Resolved:  
 
That the report be received and noted.  
 
354 Corporate Risk Register  
 
The Head of Policy and Performance introduced the report and confirmed that the 
full risk register had been circulated prior to the meeting.  The risks that fall outside 
of the Council’s risk appetite are reported to the Audit Committee.  The Council has a 
moderate appetite to strategic risks, a low appetite to financial risks and a very low 
appetite to compliance risks.  She drew attention to a number of risks that had had 

Page 29



AU 
210323 
 

 
444 

 

increased risk profiles, including cyber security, the Carbon Neutral Action Plan, 
Stodmarsh and the implementation of the Elections Act in respect of voters providing 
photographic identification.  Cyber security was a huge risk, with an attack being a 
case of ‘if’ not ‘when’.  The Head of Policy and Performance was pleased to 
announce that since the publication of the agenda, key funding had been agreed to 
support the carbon reduction plan.  The changes to the Elections Act to require voter 
identification had the potential to be problematic.  There had been local and national 
campaigns to raise awareness of these changes, however there was the potential for 
challenges on polling day.   
 
The risk of not delivering the South of Ashford Garden Community to time and 
quality had been downgraded as a risk, this was due to positive progress across a 
number of areas including the Homes England workstream entering delivery phase, 
the submission of the Garden Community Room scheme to planning within weeks 
and progress on the tenancy of the Community Management Organisation Cabin.  
 
Councillors questioned whether the Eurostar not stopping at Ashford should be 
reported as a higher risk that it was currently, given that this was now a reality.  The 
Head of Policy and Performance advised that this could be reviewed, the impact 
economic impact was difficult to measure.  Councillors felt that given the works at 
Newtown and the strategic nature of the site to Europe the return of Eurostar 
services to Ashford would be intrinsic.   
 
In response to a question regarding the Carbon Neutrality Plan, the Head of Policy 
and Performance advised that there was a target of 2030 for organisational 
operations, and 2050 for the Borough as a whole. There was a lot of work to do to 
achieve this, however good progress had been made to date, including the grant to 
retrofit HRA properties with renewable energy and a further feasibility study on 
ground source heat.  A Councillor questioned whether the target had ever been 75% 
by 2025.  The Head of Policy and Performance advised that she was not aware of 
this, however would look into this and report back.  The Committee were minded to 
measure both areas separately going forward, but would await confirmation on the 
points raised.           
 
The importance of cyber security was highlighted by the Portfolio Holder for Finance, 
IT and Digital.  He wished to highlight the work that the IT team undertook on a day 
to day basis to protect the Council from cyber attacks.  The biggest threat ultimately 
was human error, therefore the requirement to undertake the cyber security training 
was key for both Officers and Councillors alike.  Training in this area was mandatory 
was refreshed regularly.  All Councillors would be required to undertake this training 
post election as part of the Member Induction Programme.  He thanked the Senior 
Member Services Officer for her pre-emptive work in this area.    
 
Resolved:  
 
That the Audit Committee agree the assessments and the adequacy of key 
controls to manage the risks.  
 
 
 
 

Page 30



AU 
210323 

 

 
445 

 

355 Approval of Annual Governance Statement  
 
The Policy and Scrutiny Officer introduced the item.  The Council had to produce and 
approve an Annual Governance Statement, this summarised the Council’s approach 
to governance and detailed how the Council fulfilled the principals for good corporate 
governance.  There were five governance areas that would be actioned through 
2023/24, these were; changes to the constitution presented to Full Council annually 
for approval, exploration of alternative ways of consulting with residents in respect of 
the draft budget proposals for 2024/24, an updated Project Management Toolkit, 
production of a Corporate Policy Tracker and to ensure that the Council put in place 
governance arrangements for monitoring the delivery of its savings programme for 
2023/24.  
 
In response to questions, the Head of Policy and Performance advised that the 
Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer alongside Bevan Brittan had 
undertaken a review of the executive arrangements in the Constitution.  There was 
further work being done, by herself, to address the presentation of the Constitution.  
There was some remit to shorten the document without this impacting upon the 
governance arrangements.  It was intended that these changes would be presented 
to Full Council on 27th April 2023.  
 
Resolved:  
 
That the Audit Committee approves the 2022/23 Annual Governance 
Statement.  
 
356 Internal Audit and Assurance Plan 2023/24 
 
The Head of Internal Audit introduced the report and highlighted the recommendations 
contained within.  The report set out the proposed audit and assurance plan for 
Ashford Borough Council.  She drew attention to the available staffing resources and 
days allocated to work for the Council.  There had been resourcing issues at Mid Kent 
Audit Partnership over the past three years, however she wished to reassure the 
Committee that a restructure was underway, with a target for posts to be filled by June 
2023.  They had access to sources of specialist expertise through framework 
agreements and intended to use these to ensure that the audit plan was met.   
 
Resolved:  
 
That the Audit Committee; 
 

(i) Approves the Internal Audit and Assurance Plan for 2023/24 
 

(ii) Notes that the Partnership has sufficient resources to deliver the plan and 
a robust Annual Audit Opinion.  

 
(iii) Notes that the plan has been compiled independently and without 

inappropriate influence from management.  
 
 

Page 31



AU 
210323 
 

 
446 

 

357 Progress Update on the 2021/22 External Audit 
 
The Audit Manager – Grant Thornton UK introduced the report.  The main message 
was that the work on the 2021/22 accounts was in order with an aim to present the 
Audit Findings Report to the June 2023 meeting of the Committee.  There were still 
issues relating to staffing in the audit world, however they would be supported by 
colleagues overseas to complete the work on the 2022/23 audit.   
 
The Committee were mindful of the implications of the staffing shortfall in the audit 
sector and questioned whether Grant Thornton UK would be able to undertake the 
level of work that they had been awarded through the PSAA process.  The Audit 
Manager – Grant Thornton UK said that whilst issues still remained, and there was a 
backlog of accounts, he was confident that they were on the road to improvement 
and issues should not be repeated.  Overseas staff will be bought in to assist with 
the workload and deliver the programme.   
 
The Audit Manager – Grant Thornton UK confirmed that the work on the 2021/22 
audit was on target to be completed, with work on the 2022/23 audit deliverable.  
 
Resolved:  
 
That update be received and noted.  
 
358 Presentation of Financial Statements  
 
The Senior Accountant advised that they were 10 days away from the start of year 
end for 2022/23 accounts.  The Council was required to produce an annual 
statement of accounts for the financial year ending 31 March.  The timetable for 
closedown had been finalised for the financial year ending the 31 March 2023 with 
an estimated production date of 22 May 2023, and a statutory date to publish draft 
accounts being 31 May 2023.  Grant Thornton would then audit the Accounts with an 
opinion issued by 30 September 2023.  The Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities had held a consultation in regards to the deadline of publishing the 
draft accounts at 31 May.  The review closed on 2 March, however no results have 
been published to date. 
 
The Senior Accountant concluded that the Council had set a balanced budget for 
2022/23 and had a Medium Term Financial Plan that demonstrated that the Council 
was a ‘going concern’ and would operate for the foreseeable future. As such the 
accounts would be prepared on this basis. 
 
Resolved:  
 
That that Audit Committee;  
 

(i) Notes the report 
 

(ii) Approves the accounting policies for the 2022/23 accounts.  
 
 

Page 32



AU 
210323 

 

 
447 

 

359 Report Tracker & Future Meetings 
 
Resolved:  
 
That the report be received and noted.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Queries concerning these minutes?  Please contact Member Services: 
Telephone: 01233 330499    Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk  
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: http://ashford.moderngov.co.uk  
 

Page 33

http://ashford.moderngov.co.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item No: 
 

10 

Report To:  
 

Full Council 

Date of Meeting:  
 

27th April 2023 

Report Title:  
 

Greater Ashford Borough Environment and Land Mapping 
Commission – Final report 
 

Report Author: 
Job Title:  

Tracey Kerly  
Chief Executive 

Portfolio Holder: 
Portfolio Holder for: 
 

Cllr. Gerry Clarkson 
Executive Leader of the Council 
 

 
Summary:  
 

 
This report summarises the final report of the Greater 
Ashford Borough Environment and Land Mapping 
Commission and sets out a response to the 
recommendations and next steps. 
 

 
Recommendations: 
 

 
The Full Council is recommended to:-   
 

I. Receive the Commission’s Report and express the 
Council’s thanks and appreciation to the 
Commission for its work;  

II. Endorse the headline principles behind 
Recommendations 1-3 of the Commission’s 
Report, as expressed in paras. 13, 20 and 30 of 
this report; 

III. Note Recommendations 4 and 5 of the 
Commission’s Report; and 

IV. Advise the Cabinet to take into account and 
explore, as part of its work on the Review of the 
Ashford Local Plan 2030, the Next Steps 
recommended by the Commission.   

Policy Overview: The Ashford Local Plan 2030 is the Council’s current Local 
Plan, and together with the Chilmington Green AAP and 
Neighbourhood Plans, is the main part of the statutory 
development plan for the Borough. This statutory position is 
unchanged by the Commission’s Report, which looks forward 
into the future. Part of the Greater Ashford Borough 
Environment and Land Mapping Commission’s remit was to 
explore the ongoing changes to the Government’s wider 
planning reforms; and to make a series of recommendations 
to the Council regarding issues which may become future 
policy areas.  
 

Financial 
Implications: 

None at this time. Any resource implications of the mapping 
or other work recommended by the Commission will be 
considered at the time they are progressed further, as 
appropriate. 
 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



Legal Implications: 
Text agreed by 
Principal Solicitor – 
Strategic 
Development on 18 
April 2023 
 

The Commission’s Final Report and recommendations in 
themselves are neither material considerations in planning 
decision-making nor planning policies; they do not alter the 
statutory status of the Ashford Local Plan 2030 and other 
adopted policy documents such as Neighbourhood Plans.   
However, they may be picked up and progressed as part of 
the Local Plan Review process in the future, as appropriate. 
 

Equalities Impact 
Assessment: 
 

Not required. 

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment: 

 
Not Applicable. 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
(Risk Appetite 
Statement): 
 

None, in view of the Legal Implications explained above. 

Sustainability 
Implications:  
 

The involvement in the Commission of respected 
practitioners, some of whom sit outside the planning system, 
have provided a useful and alternative perspective on a 
series of sustainability issues. This has greatly expanded the 
Council’s knowledge which shall serve us well in the future.   
 
Indeed, the Leader of the Council recently had discussions 
with the Leader of the County Council about the 
Commission, including the outputs generated and the 
process followed. There was strong agreement, between the 
two organisations, of the value of this wider exercise and a 
desire to perhaps look beyond just Ashford and across the 
county for other, similar, opportunities in the future.  
 

Other Material 
Implications:  
 
 

None. 

Exempt from 
Publication:  
 

NO 
 
 

Background 
Papers:  
 
Contact: 

The Land Commission Report – appended. 
 
 
Tracey Kerly tracey.kerly@ashford.gov.uk  

 

Page 36

mailto:tracey.kerly@ashford.gov.uk


 
Agenda Item No. 10 

 
Report Title:  Greater Ashford Borough Environment and 
Land Mapping Commission – Final report 
 
 
Introduction and Background 
 
1. In the autumn of 2021, the Executive Leader of Ashford Borough Council, 

established a Greater Ashford Borough Environment and Land Mapping 
Commission. The stated purposes of the Commission are outlined in the 
Forward of the Final Commission Report (December 2022), which is 
appended to this Report.  
 

2. The Commission has proved to be a highly innovative and constructive way of 
looking at various issues facing the borough (past and future), without being 
solely ‘bound’ by the planning system, which is sometimes seen as a limiting 
factor. Twelve experts across a range of disciplines were selected to take 
part, who gave their unique insights and expertise as part of the 
Commission’s work.   

 
3. Although not solely bound by the planning system, the work of the 

Commission was clearly cognisant of it, and aware that much of the change 
that happens over time has been, and will be, shaped by planning. Indeed, 
the early work of the Commission was focused on the issue of ‘zoning’, 
reflecting the then clear Government intention to fundamentally shift elements 
of the planning system. This intention is now less certain, but provided an 
important backdrop for much of the Commission’s work. 

 
4. To summarise, the Commission identified the following key recommendations:  

 
• Recommendation 1 - to establish the Ashford Space for Nature Plan – 

This recommendation is for Ashford to have a Policy, a Map and an 
Action Plan for locations/sites in the Borough prioritised for Nature; 

 
• Recommendation 2 - mapping should be developed to be a more 

accessible tool, as it can then be applied to explain and illustrate the 
natural and built environment together, in support of whatever policies 
and projects emerge. 

 
• Recommendation 3 - water should be a key consideration in shaping 

the way that we want to see development emerging in the Borough.  
 
• Recommendation 4 – recommendations of principle - these are largely 

suggestions which can be set by the Council through future planning 
policies (if appropriate), or through advisory guidance.  

 
• Recommendation 5 – strategic recommendations - these relate more to 

Government Policy and other external stakeholders who may work in 
partnership with ABC to achieve common objectives.  

 

Page 37



5. The remainder of this report responds to the Land Commission Report by 
identifying the broad elements which the Council can: 
 
• ‘endorse’, in that the issues are relevant in the borough, are something 

the Council can actively respond to, and are likely to form work areas 
of a future Local Plan or where new planning guidance might be 
produced in the interim, or 

 
• ‘note’, in that the issue is recognised as being relevant or important, but 

will require partnership working to address on account of the Council 
not being able to be the lead body, or that the issue is not of a scale 
that can be addressed locally and requires more national bodies to 
intervene and action.   

 
Responding to the Commission’s Final Report 
 

Section 1 - Recommendation 1 – To Establish the Ashford Space for Nature 
Plan  
 

6. It is heartening that the Commissioners acknowledge and support the 
significant work the Council have achieved in recent years when it comes to 
prioritising nature, utilising the borough’s natural assets and building upon the 
opportunities within the borough, which has the largest land mass of any 
district in the county. 
 

7. This includes utilising the boroughs two Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONBs), numerous Nature Reserves and Sites of Specific Scientific Interest, 
large areas of ancient woodland and the Public Rights of Ways which dissect 
and connect many important areas. Specific recognition is also given to the 
Ashford Green Corridor – an integral part of the Borough’s planning strategy 
since 1994.  
 

8. The Commission are now recommending that the Council seek to create an 
‘Ashford Space for Nature Plan’ which can build upon these successes yet 
further.  
 

9. Such a plan would be supported by evidence and provide an opportunity to 
further the Council’s understanding of the huge diversity of landscape within 
the borough. It would also help to establish new ways of thinking about 
landscape in a more holistic way, such as reversing a decline in biodiversity, 
focussing more on specific climate change goals, recognising strategic water 
based issues across the borough, and ensuring that new ‘open’ spaces 
(green or blue) are multifunctional wherever possible.  
 

10. This broad intention for a Nature Plan should be supported by the Council. It 
is clearly consistent with our Corporate Plan (2022-24) aspirations for Ashford 
to be a ‘green pioneer’ as one of its three priority themes, which seeks to 
target carbon neutrality, increase biodiversity; and reduce waste. 
 

11. As part of this wider aspiration, the Council recently published new Climate 
Change Guidance which sets out the Council’s expectations of developers for 
new residential dwellings. Also, the Council is already preparing for the 
additional requirements of nutrient neutrality, and biodiversity net gain that is 

Page 38



being introduced by the Environment Act, and is exploring how to achieve 
targets for restoring nature, cleaning up our water and tackling air pollution.  
 

12. It is clear that any new Local Plan will need to include policies that relate to 
the wider ‘green’ agenda, albeit balancing these issues with a requirement for 
sustainable levels of new housing and employment growth, along with 
infrastructure etc. An Ashford Space for Nature Plan, can assist in this regard. 
The scope of any Plan will need to be formed by evidence, and shaped by the 
new Council and Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group as part of the 
Local Plan review work. 
 

13. The Council are asked to ‘endorse’ the Commissioner’s 
Recommendation 1 that an Ashford Space for Nature Plan is 
established, the scope of which is to be determined as part of the next 
iteration of the Local Plan. 

 
Section 2 – Recommendation 2 - Mapping 
 

14. The Commissioners rightly acknowledge that the Council already use 
mapping software, and it is seen as an ‘important tool’, with many 
environmental constraints already ‘easily accessible’. This is welcomed.  
However, the Commissioner’s clear intention is that mapping becomes a far 
more comprehensive, integrated and dynamic tool – one which can be used 
to actually ‘identify and articulate opportunities’ for Ashford Borough. 
 

15. In particular, the Commission’s report suggests that in the future mapping 
should: 
 

• Be ‘developed as a more accessible tool’ by extending the 
Council’s recent internal GIS upgrade to external users of the service, 
including residents and businesses, to enable a better customer 
experience of mapping when using it to engage with Ashford Borough 
Council. 

 
• Interact better with other systems by going beyond existing 
constraints mapping and working in partnership with other map and 
data custodians, ‘drawing together data sets from multiple sources, to 
produce live up-to-date, intuitive, easy-to-access maps’; that improve 
project efficiency. 

 
• Build a complete picture by drawing together and integrating 
mapping layers in a single viewing location that help strategies and/or 
initiatives ‘come to life when seen as a mapping project’. The creation 
of these visualisations will raise the profile of the borough’s existing 
and planned built and natural environments, allowing ‘focus on areas 
needing attention or support’. 

 
16. Clearly, these are sound aspirations, resources permitting. Some of the 

desired inter-activeness is already being progressed through new software 
being implemented by the Planning Service. A review of how successful this 
has been shall be needed once that system is in place and has had time to 
‘bed in’. This is something that the next Council and Local Plan and Planning 
Policy Task Group may wish to consider at the appropriate point.  

Page 39



 
17. Improving digitisation is supported by the Council and is being implemented 

elsewhere, as part of wider customer service improvements across the board.  
 

18. The next iteration of the Local Plan will no doubt be required to be more 
‘digital’ and ‘accessible’. Indeed, the Government are still suggesting in their 
‘Planning for the Future’ White Paper (August 2020) that the system should 
be as streamlined and modernised as possible - including through the digital 
transformation of local plans. Accordingly, this recommendation is one that 
the Council should support. 
 

19. However, it needs to be recognised that the ability to achieve the ‘full 
functionality’ as suggested by the Commissioners, will require the requisite 
resources to be in place to obtain and use any new mapping software. Also, 
not all mapping is owned or the responsibility of the Council which could limit 
the functionality.  
 

20. The Council are asked to ‘endorse’ the Commissioner’s 
Recommendation 2 that ‘mapping’ tools are maximised in the future, 
providing they are fit for purpose, and that there are suitable resources 
available.  
 
Section 3 – Recommendation 3 - Water 
 

21. The Commission acknowledge that these recommendations are ‘within’ the 
terms of reference of the Commission, but many actions will require 
leadership by others, including the Government, various water companies and 
the water regulators.  
 

22. The Commission understandably highlight a number of relevant strategic 
water issues that are prevalent in the borough. These include the desire to 
make the water network healthier, the need to protect the River Stour as a 
sensitive and fragile environment as one of only a few chalk streams in the 
world, and to continue to manage and mitigate flood risk.  
 

23. The issue of Phosphate and Nitrate eutrophication within the River Stour 
Catchment was also specifically highlighted, with a clear desire from the 
Commission to maximise Water Treatment efficiencies as the primary means 
to overcome this issue. 
 

24. The overarching recommendation from the Commission is a request for all the 
water issues to be treated in a far more holistic way, with all key stakeholders 
engaged in dialogue so that they can understand how the issue impacts 
others, in order to move forward and find common objectives.   
 

25. The Council should note, and support this broad aspiration.  
 

26. Whilst how to deal with, and respond to important water issues have long 
been an integral part of the Council’s strategy, it is clear that further co-
ordination is needed moving forward, particularly as the borough lies in an 
area of ‘water stress’.  
 

Page 40



27. This need is even more acute when looking at the ‘nutrient neutrality’ issue. It 
is well documented that the Council are actively pursuing new strategic 
wetlands in the borough. These wetlands will in fact precede, but 
complement, the planned upgrades to the relevant Waste Water Treatment 
Works in the catchment. Such land based, natural, solutions are favoured, in 
principle, by the two key environmental Government organisations in the 
Environment Agency (EA) and Natural England (NE).  
 

28. Nationally, the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill (LURB) directly addresses 
issues of nutrient pollution and sewage disposal within sensitive catchment 
areas. Additionally, Goal 3 (Clean and Plentiful Water) of the Government’s 
Environmental Improvement Plan (2023), acknowledges the importance of 
water to health and wellbeing, biodiversity, and the economy; and sets out key 
policies to be able to meet the water targets designed to alleviate the stress 
that the water system is currently under.   
 

29. The Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group will have an important role to 
play as part of the new Council in the future review of the Ashford Local Plan, 
which will need to make sure that these water pressures are addressed and 
may well need specific and bespoke new policies.   
 

30. The Council are recommend to ‘endorse’ the Commissioner’s 
recommendation 3 that water issues are dealt with in a more strategic, 
holistic, and co-ordinated way, wherever possible. In doing so, it is 
acknowledged that many of the actions shall be led by other agencies 
and/or sit outside the scope of solely the planning system.  

 
Section 4 and 5 – ‘Recommendations of Principle’ and ‘Strategic 
Recommendations’ 
 

31. Although acknowledged by the Commission as being ‘beyond’ the original 
Terms of Reference, a number of general principles for guiding new 
development are suggested under Recommendation 4.  
 

32. The report notes that these are directions that can be set by ABC through 
future planning policy, advisory notices, or by embedding into contracting 
through procurement processes, all of which could feed into a Local Plan 
and/or a Corporate Plan. 
 

33. Recommendation 5 focuses on suggestions beyond the original Terms of 
Reference, and suggests Ashford Borough Council is invited to seek wider 
agreement with partners, and promote pilot schemes, to explore the potential 
benefits further on a range of issues.  
 

34. Given the context and scope of these recommendations, it is suggested that 
they are ‘noted’ by the Council at this time. Clearly, should the new Council 
want to revisit any of these suggestions it can do so. It may well be the case 
that some of these issues do form new policy areas for a new Local Plan. 
However, that would be for the Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group to 
determine in due course as part of that process.  
 

35. The Council are recommended to ‘note’ the Commissioner’s broad 
recommendations under Section 4 and Section 5 of their Report.  

Page 41



 
36. The Commission Report concludes with a number of Next Steps which are 

useful ‘signposts’ for how some of the recommendations might be dealt with 
by the Council in the future and also reiterate some of the recommendations 
that form part of the earlier sections (covered above).  
 

37. This section does introduce the desire for the Council to produce an 
‘Implementation Plan’ which will detail how the recommendations of the 
Commission Report could be implemented, and also mentions whether an 
external stakeholder group, such as the Commission may play a role in the 
future.  
 

38. This desire should be noted by the Council. In part, this report forms the early 
stages of what could be termed an ‘Implementation Plan’. However, it shall be 
up to the newly-elected Council and Local Plan and Planning Policy Task 
Group to explore and determine the exact arrangements of how a number of 
the recommendations are actioned, including what role any external group 
might have.  

 
Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
39. Not required at this time in view of the nature of the Recommendations.   This 

will be addressed as and when the recommendations of the Land 
Commission are taken into consideration, such as if they form part of a new 
Local Plan. 

 
Consultation Planned or Undertaken 
 
40. The Land Commission Report sets out in some detail the consultation that 

was undertaken at Appendix 2 of the main report. 
 

41. In brief, a consultation was run with all Parish/Town and Local Councils and 
Community Forums in the Borough, in the form of a questionnaire; as well as  
Members of the Commission, speaking with the organisations they represent, 
including businesses via the Kent Invicta Chamber of Commerce and 
developers via the Kent Housing & Development Group. The FE College was 
also consulted, to gauge the views of some young people, by a guided 
discussion, using a discussion guide based on the questionnaire. 
 

42. It should be noted that the Commissioners themselves determined the level 
and extent of any consultation. The Council did not undertake any 
consultation itself.  

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
43. The purpose of this report is to publicise the Final Report of the Commission 

and give clarity to the Commissioners and the public around the outputs of the 
Land Commission and how the Council might seek to move forward with the 
issues raised. 

 

Page 42



 
Conclusion 
  
44. The Greater Ashford Borough Environment and Land Mapping Commission 

has produced a highly useful report, illustrating the value of engaging diverse 
experts and getting a different perspective. This has been particularly useful 
recently, as the planning system has been going through a fundamental 
review. 

 
Comment from the Leader 
 
‘The Greater Ashford Borough Environment and Land Mapping Commission 
exercise has been a huge success and shows the many benefits of engagement with 
expert practioners from varied backgrounds. The Commission’s outputs have been 
carefully and fully considered. This report reflects these considerations and I 
commend the recommendations to the Council.  
 
Recent discussions between myself and the Leader of the County Council have 
focused on the Commission, including the process undertaken, and there was strong 
support to seek to action many of the outputs in a collaborative way and also explore 
whether such a process could work outside of the borough’.    
 
Contact and Email 
 
45. Tracey Kerly - tracey.kerly@ashford.gov.uk   
 
 
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



The Greater Ashford Borough –
Environment & Land Mapping Commission

Final Commission Report
December 2022

Page 45



Neil Bell Chair ABC Conservative Councillor* & Portfolio Holder Planning & Development

Noel Ovenden Vice Chair – ABC Independent Group Leader* & Chair of Overview & Scrutiny 
 [*NB: Both Chair & Vice Chair are ‘Non-Voting’ members]

Michael Bax Weald of Kent Protection Society (WKPS)

Peter Dowling River Stour (Kent) Internal Drainage Board

Christine Drury Campaign for the Protection of Rural England (CPRE)

Nick Fenton Kent Housing & Development Group

Jo James Kent Invicta Chamber of Commerce

Shona Johnstone Homes England

Sandra Norval Southern Water

Chris Reynolds Kent Downs AONB

David Robey KCC Elected Councillor & Deputy Cabinet Member for Economic Development

Jeremy Smith Kent Association of Local Councils (KALC) – Ashford

Commission Members:

Please note: The body of this report and its recommendations are the collective work of the members of the 
Greater Ashford Borough Environment & Land Mapping Commission. It should be noted that this report and 
its recommendations do not, at the time of publication, purport to represent the views of Ashford Borough 
Council or any of the organisations mentioned or their officers or office holders. December 2022

02 03

P
age 46



04

As Members of Ashford Borough Council will know, 
the Greater Ashford Borough – Environment & Land 
Mapping Commission – was set up in the autumn of 
2021, by Councillor Gerry D Clarkson, the Executive 
Leader of the Council.

The Purpose of the Commission
The creation of this Commission, covering the whole 
of Ashford Borough, was catalysed by a variety of 
issues, all coming together at a similar point in time:

l  The concern about increasing pressure for 
greater housing growth in the Garden of England

l  The need for green space to be provided, 
retained and maintained across the Borough in 
both urban and rural areas

l  The need to ensure that the Borough’s green 
space is quality space with good accessibility 
and connectivity

l  The potential opportunities provided by COP 26 
and the need to work towards zero carbon 
emissions by 2050

l  The (then) government’s commitment to protect 
the UK’s countryside and the opportunity for the 
Commission to contribute to, and influence, that 
in the heart of the Garden of England

l  Some specific concerns on different types of 
pollution and flooding and the risks they pose

With these issues in mind, twelve people with a wide 
and diverse range of skills and experience, from 
various agencies and bodies, both from within and 
from outside the Borough, were invited to join the 
Commission1. Two of the twelve, as elected Members 
of Ashford Borough Council, fulfilled the role of 
Chair and Vice Chair but, to ensure the impartiality 
of the Commission, these two roles were designated 
non-voting only. Supporting the Commission 
members, in an advisory capacity, were two teams: 
the first consisting of five officers of the Council who 
would act as Professional/technical Advisers; the 
second, made up of a further four officers, would 
form the Secretariat to give administrative and 
communications support to the Commission.

With the intention that the work of the Commission 
would contribute to and inform the future strategy 
of the Council (via both the Corporate Plan and the 
Ashford Local Plan), it would be important to ensure 
the Commission was properly constituted and 
had a defined agenda: Terms of Reference2 were 
adopted and a Commission Code was put in place, 
ensuring the appropriate standards of conduct, 
transparency and (where justified) confidentiality 
in the Commission’s work were maintained. Formal 
Commission meetings would take place on a 
monthly basis, with notes of each meeting following 
the normal procedure of being published as part 
of the Council’s Cabinet agenda process. Other, 
informal, meetings would take place as needed and 
would also utilise technology by meeting, where 
possible, on a ‘virtual’ basis.

The Path of the Commission
To fulfil its intended purpose, the Commission 
aimed to create a logical classification of all the land 
in the Borough, to enable appropriate housing and 
commercial development to take place, maximising 
rural access, but without adversely affecting the 
essential character of the Borough.

Originally intended as a ‘zoning’ exercise, which 
would allow quick and easy access to information 
remotely (by computer), it would also fit with the 
government’s agenda at that time. That agenda 
has, however, continued to evolve – not only 
with reforms to the planning system but, with 
government changes, changes to policy too – so the 
Commission’s work over the past fifteen months has 
also evolved, resulting in a ‘fluid’ backdrop to the 
Commission’s work and the subsequent need for 
the Commission to remain flexible in its approach 
and its work.

The one constant, however, in the Commission’s 
agenda, has been – and it remains – to create an 
important part of the evidence base to inform 
the next iteration of the Local Plan. That is vitally 
important for the future of the Borough.

The Progress of the Commission
The Commission first met in October 2021, and 
quickly decided that, with a large agenda in a 
very short time, it would divide itself into two 
working groups, which would provide maximum 
work coverage.

Working Group 1 looked at the subject of Consultation, 
and devised a questionnaire which was sent out to all 
Parish and Local Councils and Community Forums in 
the Borough3. Pre-consultation, all consultees were 
sent an initial briefing document; post-completion 
of the consultation, they were subsequently given 
the opportunity to have further discussions with 
the Commission, for the purposes of clarification 
and elucidation. Separate consultation workshops 
were also held with Ashford Borough businesses4 
and with housing developers5; and a facilitated 
discussion was held with Ashford College of Further 
Education, in order to ascertain the views of young 
people within the Borough.

Working Group 2’s remit was to look at mapping, 
by considering, examining and justifying the need 
for inclusion (or exclusion) of certain categories 
of potential mapping layers which would assist in 
the Local Plan process and potentially contribute 
to the Council’s Corporate Plan6. Advice, and an 
early demonstration, was sought from an external 
company experienced in mapping; latterly the 
Council’s own GIS team has been providing both 
information and expertise, and the Commission’s 
recommendations made in this final report are 
based on the expected ability to be able to carry out 
those recommendations in-house.
Both Working Groups have reported back to the 
Commission on a monthly basis and have joined 
together to produce this final Commission report.

The Proposals of the Commission
During the course of the Commission’s work, it has 
become clear that some of the recommendations 
fall outside the original terms of reference of the 
Commission; they have, however, been included 
as they are considered to be directly relevant 
to development in the Borough and, indeed, to 
development in Kent and possibly other areas of 
the UK as well. The Commission’s recommendations 
have, therefore, been divided into different 
categories, and it is for Ashford Borough Council to 
decide whether it wishes to take some or all of the 
proposals forward.

Much of Ashford Borough is within the Weald - an 
area where people are very aware of its history 
and its heritage, its gentle development over the 
centuries, its value to the people who live and 
work in it, and those communities’ emotional 
attachment to it. This concept of ‘place’ is both very 
personal on an individual basis, but also to those 
very communities who share it as their space for 
living, work, education, leisure or other reasons. 
This should be remembered if new communities 
are to be established; with home-working and less-
frequent commuting that becomes more important 
than ever.

The report is for the Council to read and digest and, 
the Commission hopes, to take forward some, or all, 
of the recommendations and proposals. One of the 
issues that strongly came out of the consultation 
was that planning is something that is “done to 
people”, both in reality and in perception. The 
Commission would hope to change this by ensuring 
that ‘environment’ is woven into good, and relevant, 
design throughout the borough. Key ‘anchors’, 
such as identification and preservation of assets 
of community value, need to be recognised and 
labelled, and the Ashford Space for Nature Plan7 will 
be key to this. In an ideal world, housing numbers 
would be more controllable … but that may be a 
proposal to be worked on for the future.

As Chair of the Commission, I should like to thank 
all Commission members and the supporting ABC 
officers for all their hard work over the last year. I 
believe that this report, and its conclusions and 
recommendations, contain invaluable guidance on 
how to progress development across the Borough 
of Ashford in a manner that achieves a win-win 
outcome for all concerned, and I commend it to 
the Council.

Councillor Neil Bell
Portfolio Holder - Planning & Development - 
Ashford Borough Council - Commission Chairman

05

Foreword  
from the Chairman, Councillor Neil Bell

1 Commission members are listed on the previous page; more comprehensive details of Commissioners, together 
with officer support, are available in Appendix 6 & Appendix 7 of this paper
2 Terms of Reference are in Appendix 1

3 The content of the Questionnaire, responses and response rates are available at Appendix 2
4 Conducted by the Kent Invicta Chamber of Commerce (see Appendix 3)
5 Conducted by Kent Housing & Development Group 6 The ‘matrix’ of proposed mapping layers 
is available at Appendix 4 7 Ashford Space for Nature Plan: see Recommendation 1

P
age 47



06 07

Recommendation to establish the Ashford Space for Nature Plan – 
Within the Terms of Reference of the Commission: Section 1 ........................................................page 08

Mapping Recommendations – 
Within the Terms of Reference of the Commission: Section 2  .......................................................page 10

Water Recommendations –  
Within the Terms of Reference of the Commission, but also requiring the involvement 
of Government, Southern Water, South East Water and the Water Regulators 
- the Environment Agency and Ofwat: Section 3 ...............................................................................page 12

Recommendations of Principle – 
Beyond the Terms of Reference of the Commission, but relevant and 
largely do-able by Ashford Borough Council: Section 4 ...................................................................page 16

Strategic Recommendations – 
Beyond the Terms of Reference of the Commission and requiring the joint 
commitment of the Government and various third parties: Section 5 ..........................................page 19

Next Steps: Section 6. ..................................................................................................................page 22

Appendices

1. Terms of Reference of the Commission ...............................................................................page 23

2. Working Group 1 report to Commissioners on Consultation ............................................page 24

3.  Update on the Kent Chamber’s Economic Development Group’s 
response to the Consultation ........................................................................................................page 30

4. Data Prioritisation Matrix: Factors and Data to be Mapped: WG2 ....................................page 31

5. Developing a resilient water future in Ashford ...................................................................page 32

6. Members of the Commission and their outside Memberships/Affiliations .....................page 34

7. Council Officers who assisted in the work of the Commission .........................................page 35

8. Other Contributors to the work of the Commission ...........................................................page 35 

Contents

P
age 48



Section 1
Recommendation to establish the 
Ashford Space for Nature Plan – Within 
the Terms of Reference of the Commission

This recommendation is for Ashford to have a Policy, 
a Map and an Action Plan for locations/sites in the 
Borough prioritised for Nature:

l  For residents and visitors this would mean 
country parks, pocket parks and local green 
and open spaces, including village greens & 
natural recreation areas.

l  For wildlife, some locations would be dedicated 
reserves to encourage/protect species-rich 
habitats.

l  For water, sites/locations would be open water, 
or restored or new nature-based wetland 
areas, to maintain/improve river catchments of 
the Medway, Rother, Beult and Stour.

l  Although some sites may be dedicated solely 
to each of these specific functions, many 
will be multifunctional, such as boardwalk 
sections of wetland sites, public access areas 
of wildlife reserves, and country parks that 
also have wildlife 'cocoon' areas within them. 
Some sites/locations will be open landscapes, 
including heathland; others will be woodland. 
None should be Grade 1, 2 or 3a agricultural 
land, unless in an essential location such as 
a river bank buffer area, as these need to be 
prioritised for food production.

l  There is an insufficiently wide understanding 
of the huge diversity of landscape in Ashford 
Borough, which in turn means habitat and 
species diversity. We have the Downs, the Stour 
Valley, the Ancient Woodlands of the Weald, 
Isle of Oxney surrounded by the Rother Levels 
and Shirley Moor and the Greensand Ridge. It 
is also easy to forget the River Beult, much of 
the course of which is designated Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI). The section of the 
Stour between Wye and Fordwich is effectively 
a chalk stream, with water in the chalk aquifer 
entering the river under hydrostatic pressure 
just upstream of Wye.

l  It is worth noting that there is already work 
being done, on a landscape scale, through 
farming clusters around Kent. One of these 
is the Upper Beult Farming Cluster which 
stretches from Orlestone Forest down to 
Brissenden, near Bethersden. This has recently 
been awarded funding under the new Natural 
Environment Investment Readiness Fund 
(NEIRF). The Upper Beult Cluster is funded by 
Southern Water, which has been commendably 
proactive. Conservation, farming support and 
the rest of it needs to be on a landscape scale 
to really make a difference.

l  The precedent for the Ashford Space for Nature 
plan is the unique and highly successful Ashford 
Green Corridor Policy, Map and Action Plan: 
a long-established structural part of Ashford 
planning since 1994.

l  The imperatives are Global Climate Change, 
reversing the decline in biodiversity, and the 
mental health and wellbeing benefits for people 
of reconnecting with nature. They are already 
in national policy: Net Zero targets, the 10% 
biodiversity net gain planning requirement, 
and health prescribing. Much of the detailed 
rationale exists in the ENV policies of the 
current Ashford 2030 Local Plan.

l  Many sites and areas are already known and 
mapped as national designations: SSSI, Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), Special 
Protection Area (SPA), and Nature Reserves; 
some are linear: National Trails, Public 
Rights of Way (PROWs). Others may be well 
recognised locally but not mapped or more 
widely appreciated. Ashford Space for Nature 
could itself be a new designation that might 
eventually be adopted nationally as well.

l  Country Parks are good for the separation of 
public nature access, from areas of nature 
regeneration, where it is desirable to have only 
very low levels of human disturbance. Human 
beings, dogs and cats don’t sit comfortably with 
conservation. Biodiversity enhancement needs 
space, and nature conservation initiatives must 
be planned at scale.

08

l  The Commission’s work suggests there is an 
appetite amongst Community and Parish 
Councils and the wider universe of the Borough, 
to participate in the detailed work needed to 
identify the sites/locations. The mapping tools 
are now available: digitally as layers, and point-
in-time picture maps. A Strategic Space for 
Nature Land Availability Assessment (SSNLAA) 
exercise, analogous to the Strategic Housing 
& Employment Land Availability Assessment 
(SHELAA), which is already used, could be a key 
part of the Local Plan Evidence Base.

l  ABC will already own some sites identified for 
the Ashford Space for Nature Plan; others will 
be in private ownership. Landowner buy-in and 
participation will be essential. Mapping, and 
preparing and delivering the Action Plan, will 
need paying for and expert support. The Kent 
Wildlife Trust (KWT) is a long-established ABC 
partner at many sites, including the Warren and 
Hothfield Common. New legal requirements 
on developers for biodiversity net gain, as 

well as nutrient neutrality requirements, may 
assist the funding arrangements - for example 
by purchases of land or credits, as well as by 
allocating areas within larger sites. There is a 
strong tradition of community engagement in 
the Borough, to be leveraged for the Ashford 
Space for Nature Plan. This could include 
improving access to iconic areas of water 
and nature, such as The Royal Military Canal. 
The Council may wish to establish a process, 
mapping support and funding, via a pilot 
programme, to test the viability of Ashford 
Space for Nature to be a Borough-wide 
community based plan.

l  The Ashford Green Corridor was ground 
breaking when it was established almost 20 
years ago. This could be an equally important 
flagship initiative. The Ashford Green Corridor 
has a well justified policy, and a map that is a 
de  facto local designation. A similar ambition 
for policy, map and local designation could be 
set for the Ashford Space for Nature Plan.

09
Country parks are good for the separation of public nature access from areas of nature regeneration.

P
age 49



11

Section 2
Mapping Recommendations – 
Within the Terms of Reference of the Commission 

Mapping is already an important tool in ABC’s 
work on Planning and other Council functions.  
The Commission focused on what should be 
mapped and the availability of data and systems. 
Environmental constraints, such as landscape and 
wildlife designations and flood risk maps are fairly 
easily accessible. The issue is how to use the data sets 
to identify and articulate opportunities. Nationally 
available data is used as layers in Geographic 
Information Systems (GIS). ABC has an interactive 
GIS system, and works in close partnership with 
KCC, which has the Public Rights of Way online 
maps (PROW), and the Kent Landscape Information 
System (KLIS): 

l  ABC is upgrading its mapping software to a new 
dynamic GIS layer system. This will continue 
to be an important internal tool. It needs also 
to be a supported upgrade for external users, 
including residents and businesses, to enable 
a better experience of mapping when using it 
to engage with ABC. The next levels of mapping 
involve specialist software services, and can be 
particularly helpful when drawing together data 
sets from many sources, to produce intuitive, 
easy-to-access maps in complex situations.  The 
Commission was shown the TMA capability, 
which ABC has used successfully for the trees 
project.  It is a more expensive service but, 
for particular projects, is likely to be justified 
on project efficiency.  The Commission’s view 
is that ABC should have both the upgraded 
GIS software and also plan to use specialist 
mapping for some projects. 

l  The Ashford Space for Nature Plan, set out 
above, will come to life, when seen as a 
mapping project, working in partnership 
with communities, landowners, developers, 
wildlife and access organisations, using a 
shared mapping approach to map larger 
and smaller spaces for nature. This would 
include identifying buffer zones, spaces for 
community orchards, and current and future 
tree belts that can screen development, whilst 
also providing three-dimensional habitats. 
Mapping can also identify and help to improve 
the connections between spaces for nature as 
wildlife corridors and more vehicle-free routes 
for people. The  Ashford Green Corridor is an 

to explain and illustrate the natural and built 
environment together, in support of whatever 
policies and projects emerge. This means 
working on both aspects of mapping: what is to 
be mapped? – (which needs to be defined from 
the many options above and below); and which 
interactive layered system is most efficient in 
performance and cost?

l  Moment-in-time maps, captured as picture 
files (pdf), will continue to be important. Two 
examples of these are: the current state of bus 
routes; and integration with other dynamic 
systems, such as cycling route maps or the KCC 
PROW maps which, for example, show areas 
where vegetation clearance is being done. 

l  The PROW network, environmental and 
landscape designation (SSSI; AONB etc.) and 
Flood Zones 2 and 3, are essential base layers, 
over the underlying location map of rivers, 
roads, railways and built areas. Topography, 
mitigating climate change and reversing 
biodiversity loss, mean visualising the Borough 
differently, and using map changes as a 
measurement tool. 

l  An effective GIS, publicly available online, and 
open-source data is the recommended starting 
point. The upgrade needs to be easy to access 
and use. Projects may need to supplement 
this with specialist mapping expertise, to show 
solutions or benefits, such as a heat map of 
access to Space for Nature, or to measure 
progress in a catchment improvement project, 
to enable faster delivery.

Photo credit TMA.

established policy and plan around Ashford 
Town that needs to be maintained, developed 
and promoted with mapping - whatever action 
is taken on the idea of a borough-wide Ashford 
Space for Nature Plan.

l  Creating these visualisations will raise the 
profile of the Borough-wide functioning natural 
environment, to balance the built environment 
of existing and planned housing, employment 
and hard infrastructure sites. There are 
wonderful natural places across the Borough 
now, but they are often isolated and rarely 
celebrated. It will also make it more likely that 
the larger area needed for a Country Park in the 
Weald can be achieved.

l  A higher profile for local and borough-wide 
maps of the PROW network, in partnership 
with KCC, would help focus on areas needing 
attention or support, including more control, 
for example, of 4 x 4 recreational abuse of 
parts of the PROW network. Maps are also the 
starting point for exploring the potential with 
landowners, to evolve the use of some parts 
of the network as safer off-road pedestrian or 
cycle routes.

l  Mapping tools would also assist the work 
on river catchments, managing attenuation 
for flood prevention in built areas, as well 
as wetland attenuation possibilities for 
nutrient neutrality objectives. The work of 
the Kentish Stour Countryside Partnership on 
the Catchment Improvement Plan could, for 
example, have better delivery if the work was 
aided by mapping. The complexity of drainage 
systems in many parts of the Borough could 
also be better understood.

l  Mapping and Zones also need to be considered 
in the context of emerging revisions to 
Government direction on Planning and 
Levelling-Up. As this report is finalised, 
Investment Zones seem likely, for which it will 
be important that the immediate and wider 
environmental constraints, characteristics and 
opportunities are articulated through maps, 
whatever other policy changes are made to 
accelerate delivery. As the Borough has a 
number of larger brownfield and allocated 
sites, it is to be hoped that the Investment Zone 
criteria would favour those first.

l  For all of the above reasons, and types of 
uses, mapping should be developed to be a 
more accessible tool, as it can then be applied 

Criteria

Social and environmental factors have been 
considered, including;

- Woodland deprivation - Green space 
deprivation - Flood alleviation - Pollution filtration 
- Biodiversity enhancement - Wildlife connectivity 
corridors - Potential of low grade farmland

GIS Map showing base map of roads and railways with layers turned on 
for Ward Boundaries (black) and Ashford Green Corridor map (green) 

Multi criteria/ 
multilayer to 
show potential 
and interactions

Legend

      Wildlife Sites

      Green Corridor

      Conservation Area

      Archaeology

P
age 50



1312

Section 3
Water Recommendations – 
Within the Terms of Reference of the Commission 
but also requiring the involvement of the 
Government, Southern Water, South East Water 
and Water Regulators - the Environment Agency 
and Ofwat8

Although these are items that relate to Government 
policy, the water companies and external 
stakeholders, they are so important for the Borough 
that they need to be taken as within the Terms of 
Reference of the Commission. ABC is already working 
in close partnerships, on the waste water issues and 
consequential effects of the Stodmarsh Nutrients 
problem. The Commission’s work has been to look 
particularly at the wider environmental context, and 
ways of working differently, to achieve a more joined- 
up approach, if the regulatory barriers to doing so 
can also be addressed. The Commission considers 
there is a strong case for doing so as follows: 

  Water should be a key consideration in shaping 
the way that we want to see development 
emerging in the Borough. This means further 
developing blue-green infrastructure which 
supports the water and waste-water networks 
on which we all depend.

  A number of quite basic things need to be 
done including:

❍  Eliminating surface water from entering, 
and preventing Fats, Oils and Greases (FOG) 
from blocking, foul water sewers

❍  Ensuring all drainage connections are going 
to the right place (i.e. no foul flow to surface 
water sewers), and misconnections are 
corrected.

❍  Adapting soakaways and septic tanks - for 
example when extensions are approved - 
in order to maintain and improve ground 
water quality. 

❍  Considering highway runoff, to prevent 
pollutants from reaching watercourses 
including tyre wear, agricultural debris and 
litter. This will be assisted by more frequent 
road sweeping and drain clearing as well as 
management of green verges as blue filters.

❍  Working better through development: 
working with water and drainage 
undertakers, to ensure that development 
considers placement in relation to 
underground assets, proximity to treatment 
works (considering odour, noise, traffic 
such as tankers etc.), SuDS design and 
maintenance plans.

❍  There need to be more water storage 
facilities. For example, the Stour sometimes 
drops away in late summer, almost as 
though a plug has been taken out of a bath.

  Upskilling to understand how multi-stakeholder 
approaches can enable a shift from hard, 
engineered (grey) infrastructure, to an 
integrated approach, making use of nature-
based solutions as well. This includes changing 
the way that we see green spaces, to repurpose 
them to slow the flow of rainwater, and design 
planting to help with this. This links in directly 
with the Ashford Space for Nature Plan.

  The present disequilibrium on water has been 
well aired in the Commission’s work. The 
Stodmarsh Nutrients problem has focused 
minds. The health of our rivers, including the 
Stour as an important chalk stream, is a clear 
and obvious objective. There are different 
positions on how to achieve that objective, as 
the following two bullet points explain.

  The solution to Phosphate & Nitrate 
eutrophication should be mainly by water 
treatment - not wetlands. There are around 
200 chalk streams in the world, most of which 
are in England and the Stour catchment is the 
most notable in Kent. It is heavily abstracted 
for water supply and other uses, and suffers 
huge damage from permitted discharge from 
wastewater treatment works, which also tends 
to raise water temperature well beyond the 
level required to sustain the fragile chalk stream 
community. Current proposals for wetlands to 
remove nutrients might work, or they might be 
the final ‘nail in the coffin’ for the river.

8For further information and a more detailed explanation see Appendix 5: Developing a resilient water future 
for Ashford

Water is a key consideration in shaping emerging developments.

P
age 51



14

The water companies say they will upgrade by 
2030, but this needs to happen much faster. 
The engineered wetlands proposed require 
commitments from landowners in the order of 80 
years. It is a new concept and its effectiveness and 
consequences must be researched meticulously 
before wetlands are chosen as a solution to this 
problem. Enhanced water treatment, on the 
other hand, is proven technology that just needs 
investment approval. 

  The Kent Water Quality Group is working on 
a solution that will be a combination of water 
treatment upgrades to Technically Achievable 
Limits, with a wetland sites component to 
absorb the residual Nutrient balance. The 
Commission’s view on this topic is that whatever 
the uncertainties and outcome on the wetlands 
component, there needs to be a broader 
forward funding approach to delivering the 
works upgrades e.g. through LEP/Section 106/
CIL etc., and not limited to Ofwat criteria only. 

  The possibilities offered by Natural Flood 
Management (NFM), also need to be 
considered. For example, the Shipston Area 
Flood Action Group – Slow The Flow (safag.
org) - has done a considerable amount of good 
work and we could learn a thing or two from 
them. There has for some time been a lot of 
talk of NFM in Ashford, which will benefit flood 
& drought conditions, but with frustratingly 
little implementation, although there has been 
some. A Catchment Improvement Partnership 
(CIP) exists, which involves many organisations 
& groups, and is chaired by the Kentish Stour 
Countryside Partnership (KSCP). This does a 
lot of good river restoration work and has an 
excellent group of volunteers. What is needed 
to enhance this is a mapping system which will 
hopefully aid delivery.

There will not be much resistance to ‘slowing the 
flow’ in the upper reaches of the catchment, but 
we must also promote the need for appropriate 
river maintenance further down the system, as a 
completely choked system is no good for anything 
and biodiversity is harmed.  Appropriate channel 
maintenance improves our ability to evacuate 
extreme flood flows, but also the confidence and 
ability to retain water when needed. 

NFM should be focused in rural areas, for the benefit 
of the whole catchment. SuDS should be retro-fitted 
in urban areas, where practicable, to help relieve the 
pressure on the sewer and river networks, as well as 
ensuring that the redevelopment of brownfield sites 
reduces runoff substantially, which is not always 
the case.

There are numerous related policies and plans 
related to NFM, which have taken a lot of time and 
hard work to put together, and we should aim to 
pull the most relevant together to help the many 
interested parties to engage. An openly available 
interactive map is needed, to help identify areas 
of most and least risk and opportunity, as this 
would help to steer development to the most 
suitable locations.

  There needs to be a ‘reconnection’ to the water 
cycle, recognising that the entire community 
is part of it. The water companies operate 
vast infrastructure to provide a service, but 
protecting water sources and surface and foul 
water drainage systems is within everyone’s gift.

  There needs to be a strategic approach 
that can revise the modus operandi for the 
privatised utilities, through collaboration and 
forward funding, to enable ‘Infrastructure 
First’, linking with environmental perspectives. 
The requirement for a good water supply 
is fundamental to life, and there needs 
to be a strong focus on this in the light of 
climate change.

  There needs to be an exploration of the means 
of getting a more holistic approach to water, 
as the current system is quite fragmented and 
makes the sort of joined-up thinking that is 
necessary for housing development to work 
more difficult than it needs to be.

15
Wetlands are part of the answer to water treatment.

Permeable paving helps to 
avoid surface water flooding.

P
age 52



1716

Section 4
Recommendations of Principle – 
Beyond the Terms of Reference of the 
Commission, but relevant and largely do-able by 
Ashford Borough Council

These are directions that can be set by ABC through 
planning policy, advisory notices, or by embedding 
into contracting through procurement processes, 
all of which could feed into the Local Plan and the 
Corporate Plan:

l  ABC needs to develop a plan for commercial 
sites, both large & small, not forgetting small 
rural sites in this, with the benefits that these 
bring to the rural economy.

l  Controlling the growth of Ashford Town 
should be achieved by the imaginative use 
of buffer zones, not by a rigid ‘Green Belt’. 
This would involve the use of green spaces in 
various forms: parks, buffer zones, areas of 
biodiversity and country parks. This will be a 
natural consequence of the Ashford Space for 
Nature Plan. Increased density, as opposed to 
physical expansion, should also be considered, 
particularly if accompanied by adequate 
green spaces.

l  Appropriate, and often (though not always) 
small-scale, housing development in most 
villages is required, including Rural Local 
Needs Housing - in part to provide a supply of 
smaller, more modestly priced but still high-
quality properties, in terms of space standards 
etc., to replace those considerably enlarged 
by extensions. Small-scale commercial 
development should also be encouraged, to 
improve rural sustainability.

l  Small-scale development in villages can be a 
two-edged sword. On the one hand, it will add 
to housing numbers in villages, and put greater 
pressure on the infrastructure (more cars on 
the roads, pressure on social infrastructure, 
schools, GP surgeries etc.) without the necessary 
Developer Funding coming forward. On the 
other hand, it could encourage more smaller 
builders and potentially self-build. Small scale 

development also tends to adopt a ‘ribbon 
development’ form, and may therefore spread 
communities out over longer distances, along 
existing roads. How to manage these pros and 
cons needs to be carefully considered.

l  Overall, there should be a greater proportion, 
greater than the existing maximum policy 
of 40% of non-market housing for rent, or 
staircase to ownership (including ABC stock 
development), and a greater quantity of more 
modestly priced market housing is needed. This 
should still be built to a high-quality standard, 
and would enable young people to have homes 
and allow local people in the villages to remain 
in their communities. 

l  Housing developments need to be better 
designed, from their conception, with genuine 
consideration of their inherent purpose and 
setting. Even with the early intervention and 
advice of the Independent Design Panel, current 
building often appears to have had superficial 
design treatments at the end of the whole 
development process. Home-working needs 
to be considered, probably in many cases by 
dual-use spaces, but also looking at this need 
in particular localities.

l  Scale is needed for biodiversity to work and 
while this can’t be achieved everywhere, good 
linkages between smaller parcels of land will 
be essential.

l  There should be more trees planted, as well 
as more trees protected and retained, as a 
contribution to carbon reduction and Net Zero. 
The right tree needs to be in the right place. 
Ashford Borough Council has already made an 
excellent start on this by planting 135,500 trees.

l  Grade 1 & 2 agricultural land should be used for 
food production only, other than in exceptional 
circumstances. Grade 3 should be explicitly 
split into Grades 3a & 3b, with Grade 3a being 
used for food production only, and Grade 3b 
available, in some cases, for other uses, including 
biodiversity. The contribution that land being 
actively farmed makes to the character of the 
Borough should be a constant consideration.

l  When assessing agricultural land use, it is clearly 
desirable to protect Grades 1, 2 and 3a land for 
food production, but there is a crossover, and 
there must be regard to emerging agricultural 
policy, in terms of farm income support 
through the Environmental Land Management 
System, Sustainable Farming Incentive, and 
the opportunities which will be available 
for Biodiversity Net Gain and other Nature 
Based Solutions.

l  Twenty five years ago, Grades 1, 2 and 3a were 
very rarely permitted for development. The 
NPPF introduced the principle of Best & Most 
Versatile (BMV) land and protection of that 
has been much less rigorous. The benchmark, 
in recent years, has been a very grey area 
between land in Grades 3a and 3b: 3a being 
protected and 3b being considered suitable 
for development. Clearer definition is required, 
although assessment outcomes from this can 
never be expected to be black and white. It is 
also true that lower grade land often has the 
greatest conservation potential.

l  The difficulty is where the line should be drawn 
between the two sub-grades. There is no doubt 
that the less productive end of Grade 3 is 
very often not worth farming, as the value of 
output does not cover the costs of production. 
Grade 3b land often also often lends itself to 
conservation. There should be more concern 
about the loss of Grade 1 and Grade 2 land to 
development. That is the land which produces 
yield and, without yield, farming cannot be 
profitable. The loss of Grades 1, 2 and 3a 
land around Canterbury, Faversham and 
Sittingbourne is a case in point.

l  Solar panels or roof tiles should be mandatory 
on all new buildings, subject to electrical 
practicality, as part of the Borough’s Net Zero 
commitment, alongside encouragement 
and support of post-fit schemes throughout 
the Borough.

l  Ground based solar should not involve 
significant or cumulative loss of countryside, 
valued landscape or agricultural land in any 
way, as this would materially change the 
character of the Borough

l  To reduce flood risk, building development in 
areas of highest flood risk should be designed 
with this risk in mind. These areas are often 
better used for environmental enhancement.

Section 4

Farms can diversify by adding commercial units on site.

Small scale quality house building in rural areas is a focus.

Solar panels should be mandatory on all new buildings.

P
age 53



18

Section 5
Strategic Recommendations - Beyond 
the Terms of Reference of the Commission and 
requiring joint commitment of the Government 
and various third parties

These are items that relate to Government Policy, 
Local Policy and external stakeholders who may 
work in partnership with ABC. They will tend to 
require wider agreement to put them into practice, 
but the impetus from Ashford Borough Council to 
explore better ways of conducting its land planning 
and associated constraints, within one of the faster 
growing Boroughs nationally, makes it well placed to 
conduct pilot projects in these areas in collaboration 
with other stakeholders particularly KCC:

l  There is a pressing need for some sort of Kent 
Regional Housing & Infrastructure Plan, with a 
replacement for the Strategic Market Housing 
Assessment (SHMA) Model, and more control 
of Kent Housing Numbers in Kent. It makes 
no sense that Otterpool, Lenham Heath, 
Chilmington Green, and other developments at 
this regionally significant scale, are considered 
in isolation from one another, especially from 
the point of view of infrastructure. This will be 
difficult under the current Local Government 
structure and it may be that better sub-regional 

coordination could more easily be achieved, if 
there were greater use and visibility of other 
functional groups such as East Kent, Mid Kent, 
and West Kent, for example.

l  An upgrade of the PROWs for the 21st century 
is needed to provide a usable network for 
walking, cycling and horse riding, but not usage 
by any motor vehicles, except emergency 
services. PROWs need to be fit-for-purpose. 
The improvement and reclassification of 
Public Rights of Way is fraught with difficulty, 
as ancient law applies, but a concerted and 
pragmatic effort ought to be able to remove 
the abuse of our PROWs by off-roaders and the 
like, to provide safe and attractive routes that 
can be enjoyed by the general public for active 
travel. There is great potential in the Ashford 
area, but a lot of recreational abuse. Permissive 
Rights of Way will be an important subject 
under the Environmental Land Management 
System (ELMS), which is due to replace direct 
subsidies based on acreage payments, and 
reward farmers and landowners with public 
money, for doing things for the public good. 
Support from landowners and farmers will 
require financial incentives and the great worry 
of all the new schemes is that these incentives 
will be unattractive.

l  ABC’s very good SuDS Policy should be 
promoted.  The use of ‘open’ SuDS in all 
new developments should be encouraged, 
in preference to out-of-sight, out-of-mind 
‘closed’ underground tanks. Open SuDS, 
such as balancing ponds, swales and 
watercourses, also enhance public spaces 
and improve biodiversity. The retro-fitting of 
SuDS in previously developed areas, which 
currently drain unattenuated to the sewer 
network, should be explored. This should also 
include run-off from highways. The ongoing 
maintenance of SuDS needs to be improved.

l  Ashford Town Centre needs special attention 
in terms of ‘tidiness’ and looking ‘loved’. This 
mainly applies to the older buildings in the High 
Street and involves such things as repairing 
building fronts and facias, replacing broken 
tiles, masonry and paving, removing grass etc. 
from guttering and roof drainage channels etc.

l  It is most important that the unique character 
of Tenterden is maintained, and protecting this 
must be a key consideration in any proposed 
developments there.

l  The underlying principles of Neighbourhood 
Plans (NPs) should be explored, to allow 
communities to identify local planning priorities 
that can win support from the residents in 
referendums. Those priorities would still have 
to meet wider policies and Adopted Plans, 
but such an approach would re-establish the 
original local involvement intentions of NPs, 
whilst avoiding the substantial time and cost of 
extensive evidence gathering, that has become 
the main feature of the current system, 
and duplicates work already carried out at 
higher levels.

19

The unique character of Tenterden must be maintained.

Investment in access to the countryside for all is important.

P
age 54



20

l  There needs to be a strong push for a new 
Nuclear Power Station at Dungeness, using 
the new Rolls Royce Small Modular Reactors 
(SMRs), which would make a major contribution 
to Climate Change and Net Zero, by producing 
a vast amount of green electricity. This could 
be done very quickly by putting three SMRs 
into Dungeness A, which is almost completely 
decommissioned, and this could be viewed as 
a pilot scheme to prove that the SMR concept 
works, and to iron out any teething problems. 
All the grid infrastructure is already there. Three 
more SMRs could follow at Dungeness B, once 
decommissioning is complete there, and all six 
SMRs would provide almost the same level of 
electricity as Dungeness B did, but at half the 
construction cost.

l  There needs to be an infrastructure catch-up, 
then Infrastructure First. The level of housing 
development in Ashford, and in Kent generally, 
over recent years, has been far ahead of the 
infrastructure needed to support it. This will 
require a New Developer Contribution System, a 
higher level of such contributions, more money 
from the state and a forward funding system. 
This needs to be applied to all infrastructure, 
but to highways, water supply & treatment and 
power in particular.

l  Water has been covered in an earlier section 
of this report, but electricity supply is equally 
important, and all the same arguments apply. 
At the moment, it is not possible to put in the 
power cables, transformers and all the necessary 
electricity distribution apparatus ahead of 
development, which does not make sense.

l  If Developer Contributions increase significantly, 
land values will have to reduce. Landowners 
are used to values going up rather than down. 
There may well be a general re-set but, even if 
only for an interim period, falling land values 
will lead to a reduction in the supply of land. If 
a recession comes on, the construction industry 
will be needed even more as an economic 
driver but, of course, if lenders get nervous, 
there will be no buyers for houses. Land supply 
needs to be in the right place as, whilst there 
is no point in being against building per se, the 
Commission is against building inappropriately 
or at an inappropriate scale. To reduce the 
pain in the land market, landowners who 
are prepared to contribute to more onerous 
planning obligations may need tax incentives to 
do so. That is not something a Local Planning 
Authority can provide, but if the Borough can 
demonstrate thinking outside the box, ABC may 
at least be given the opportunity to carry out 
some sort of pilot.

l  Fast broadband needs to be sorted out, with a 
good mobile signal everywhere, to be upgraded 
as requirements evolve (e.g. 4G to 5G). Ashford 
Borough Council has spent a long time trying 
to do this, and the Commission supports its 
aim of continuously improving broadband, to 
keep pace with modern requirements, both 
commercial and residential.

l  The current model of Bus Service provision is 
broken. Better bus services are needed, and a 
new model needs devising, starting – in terms 
of approach - with a blank sheet of paper and 
with a new mindset, especially in rural areas, 
and not simply part of a largely user-pays 
economic model (i.e. starting to treat buses 
more like trains). The pilot Demand Responsive 
Transport being trialled by Stagecoach and 
others should be tested for the villages 
clustered around Tenterden. Work on evolving 
the ‘Little and Often” model should continue 
in Ashford, including encouragement to “Use 
the Bus”

l  Levelling-Up, and the opportunities it presents 
for Kent, and Ashford within it, needs to be 
considered in all of this. Ashford has been 
awarded £14.7m to facilitate the Newtown 
Works Studios. The only other district in Kent 
to benefit from this phase of Levelling-Up, is 
Thanet, who have two bids, one of which will 
have some impact on Ashford through the East 
Kent College Group. 

21

The Nuclear Power Station 
at Dungeness.

Linking areas with good quality footpaths 
and cycle routes is desirable.

Use the 
bus.

Ashford town centre needs 
special attention to ‘look loved’.

More tree planting in selected 
areas is required.

P
age 55



22

Section 6
Next Steps

l  In its submission to Ashford Borough Council’s Full Council Meeting, the Commission asks the Council to 
note and consider the report, and to use or embrace recommendations to put greater focus, and place 
greater emphasis, on the natural environment of Ashford Borough. The Council may also wish to utilise 
the Commission’s recommendations to vary a number of Planning & Development policies.

l  The development of an Implementation Plan. This needs to detail how recommendations of the Commission 
could be implemented, over what timescale and how. Whether or not an external stakeholder group, such 
as the Commission, should continue in some form also needs to be considered. There are pros and cons 
to this.

l  The Ashford Space for Nature Plan, Mapping Recommendations and Recommendations of Principle could 
be put into ABC policies and processes.

l  A plan could be considered to influence and lobby external parties needed to effect Strategic 
Recommendations and Water Recommendations, such as KCC, the Government, the Water Companies, 
the Water Regulator etc. In the first instance, this could involve ABC and KCC working together at senior 
political level, along with the MP(s), with appropriate Officer support.

The Greater Ashford Borough Environment & Land Mapping Commission: 17/11/22
23

Appendix 1
Terms of Reference for the Commission
At the Commission’s inception, the Terms of 
Reference were based on an awareness that it was 
not the role of the Commission to duplicate any 
statutory or delegated duties or responsibilities of 
the Council or its Committees. 

The following are the Terms of Reference as agreed 
by the Commission in October 2021. As outlined in 
the Chairman’s Foreword, however, (‘The Path of the 
Commission: p4), not only government itself, but 
also government thinking and government policies 
have changed within that time frame, thereby 
resulting in a change of focus for the Commission 
and an awareness that it needed to be more flexible 
in its aims. 

(i)  Members of the Commission will share 
knowledge and expertise in order to assess 
and strategically map the Borough of Ashford. 
This mapping is to both protect the most 
important aspects of our land mass right in the 
heart of the Garden of England and to explore 
sustainable economic and housing growth by:

- Clearly identifying broad ‘zones’ within the 
borough on an interactive map base
- Mapping the key environmental constraints, 
key characteristics and identifying the role 
and opportunities each zone plays within the 
borough
- Giving due attention in preparing the 
Commission’s final recommendations, for 
them to be presented in a balanced and well 
justified way so that they may be used to advise 
and shape the future strategy of the Council, 
including its continuously evolving Corporate 
Plan and its important Ashford Local Plan.

(ii)  The Commission will receive presentation 
and briefings from the professional advisers, 
to assist in their understanding and interface 
with the exiting and ongoing work of the 
Council on the relevant associated matters. 

(iii)  The Commission will communicate and 
engage with local Town Council, Parishes, 
Community Councils and Neighbourhood 
Forums to inform the land mapping process. 

(iv) The Commission will record and carefully 
consider the evidence given both in written form 
and at the hearings that may be called.

(v) In communicating with local Parish, Town, 
Community Councils and Neighbourhood 
Forums, the Commission will stress the 
importance of fully justifying all proposals which 
may be submitted by them. 

(vi) To identify broad zones that would provide a 
reasonable separation that avoids rural villages 
becoming co-joined and thus creating suburbs 
of central Ashford or indeed rural sprawl, which 
would destroy the identity and character of the 
rural villages.

(vii)  To identify areas that are of significant 
natural beauty, heritage and/or historical 
importance that need to be considered for 
stronger protection

(viii)  To identify any site or area that could provide 
a significant additional wetland park to add 
to those being sought across the Borough, 
especially where they flow into any part of 
the Borough feeding into the Great River 
Stour and also the River Beult Medway basin. 

(ix)  When formulating their recommendations, 
the Commission will seek the views of their 
appointed professional advisers and relevant 
experts as deemed necessary

(x)  Commission Members will be expected to 
work together in a collegiate way to find 
pragmatic solutions to fulfil the Commission’s 
Mission Statement

(xi)  Commission Members, Advisers and its 
Secretariat must be mindful of any Conflict of 
Interests that may arise from their work for 
the Commission

P
age 56



2524

Appendix 2

Background

The aim of the Commission is to create a logical 
classification of all the land in the Borough, which 
will enable appropriate housing and commercial 
development to take place, and maximise rural 
access, but in a manner which is both sustainable 
and will not destroy the essential character of 
the Borough.

In effect, a specific Land Classification can be 
considered as a ‘zone’, with certain characteristics, 
and the aim is to end up with the whole of Ashford 
Borough broken down into such zones.

The government’s planning reforms continue to 
evolve, alongside directly related policy issues 
like Levelling-Up and County Deals, and all of 
this represents a back drop to the work of the 
Commission, which is fluid, to say the least.

However, the ultimate intention - to create an 
important part of the Evidence Base to inform the 
next iteration of the Local Plan - remains, and is 
vitally important for the future of the Borough.

The Consultation & the Response Level

A consultation was run with all Parish/Town and 
Local Councils and Community Forums in the 
Borough, in the form of a questionnaire; as well as 
with members of the Commission, speaking after 
consulting with the organisations they represent, 
including businesses via the Kent Invicta Chamber 
of Commerce and developers via the Kent Housing 
& Development Group. The FE College was also 
consulted, to gauge the views of some young 
people, by a guided discussion, using a discussion 
guide based on the Questionnaire. 

Greater Ashford Borough - Environment & Land Mapping Commission – 
Working Group 1 Report to Commissioners on Consultation

Q4.You will be aware of the need for more wetlands, 
providing short and long-term biodiversity, and to 
slow the rate of run-off of Phosphates & Nitrates 
along the Stour River valleys. What characteristics 
would you like to see in a wetland and are there 
any areas in your parish or neighbourhood that 
would be suitable? 

•  The concept of wetlands was accepted as 
a possible solution to some of the issues 
caused by polluted outfalls. Those in the Stour 
catchment were generally supportive but there 
were very mixed views as to siting. There was 
mention by several of using wetlands as areas 
for access and recreation.

•  Those parishes on the Downs were less keen on 
the idea and generally did not comment. Those 
on the Rother and Beult/Medway catchments 
could see some merit and also had some 
existing concerns due to flash flooding from 
new developments, notably Tenterden.

•  This is a topic that would be very difficult to map 
without further research into the areas needed 
and would be much better tackled by reducing 
the sources of the pollution.

Q5. Are there footpaths or Public Rights of Way in 
your neighbourhood, which might be suitable for 
upgrading or resurfacing, for more regular use? 
This could be as cycleways or pedestrian walkways, 
which could bring both health & climate change 
benefits.

•  97% of parishes felt that they have some 
PROWs suitable for improvement. All footpaths, 
bridleways and byways should be mapped.

Q6. Would you like to see provision of new 
dedicated surfaced routes linking communities 
and specifically for cycling, walking, horses, 
pedestrians and disabled users, not for motor 
vehicles?

•  87% of parishes strongly agreed with the concept 
of the provision of interlinking surfaced paths 
suitable for walkers, cyclists and equestrians 
(including full disabled access)

•  Several of the parishes on the edge of Romney 
Marsh felt that there should be a continuous path 
along the full length of the Royal Military Canal.

A briefing document and the questionnaire 
were sent out to all consultees by email, to 
enable them to consider the objectives and the 
questions. The actual Questionnaire was completed 
electronically. Following the electronic receipt of the 
Questionnaires, all consultees were invited to attend 
a series of meetings with Commission Members, to 
expand on their views. Two took up this offer.

The exercise took place between 14th February 
and 4th May 2022.
42 questionnaires were sent out and 33 returned, 
a response rate of 79%.
The content of the questionnaire is detailed below, 
together with the overall responses.

Content of the Questionnaire 
and Responses

Q1. Do you think that when considering 
development, we should try and do this in a way 
that protects the overall character of the Borough, 
allowing it to remain ‘rural’, on a broad definition 
of the term?

Virtually 100% of respondents strongly agreed with 
this statement.

Q2. This question involves consideration of such 
things as the quality and uniqueness of ‘views’, 
village entrances, woodland, green corridors, 
which can be areas of biodiversity or green access, 
cycleways or pedestrian routes, and specific 
types of plants and their terrain, special trees 
and buildings, amongst other things. Considering 
these factors, please describe how they apply to 
your area.

Not surprisingly, there was a wide range of specific 
responses to this question, which are picked up 
in the mapping suggestions in Appendix 4 of 
this document.

Q3. Do you think that there should be a limit to the 
expansion of Ashford, to enable villages to retain 
their individual character as settlements?

Over 90% of respondents agreed with this statement.

Q7. Do you think that we should try and provide 
green spaces as ‘lungs’, including within the urban 
area, for exercise, walking, cycling & leisure? 

•  Virtually 100% agreed that there should be 
good provision of green space within the 
urban boundary, preferably linked by paths for 
walkers and runners.

Q8. Do you think there is a need for a dedicated 
country park somewhere in the Borough, with 
signed recreational routes, car parking and café 
& meeting place facilities, along the lines of 
Lullingstone, Shorne or Brockhill Country Parks?

•  Over 70% agreed and 13% were neutral towards 
this idea.

•  Country parks should be accessible by bicycle 
or walking

Q9. Are there any areas where more trees could 
be planted in your neighbourhood? 

Not surprisingly, there was a wide range of positive 
specific responses to this question, which are picked 
up in the mapping suggestions in Section 4 of this 
document

Q10. Do you consider that Grade 1 and 2 
agricultural land, which is the most fertile land, 
should be maintained for food production, and 
not allowed to be developed?

•  93% of parishes strongly agreed that Grade 1 
and 2 agricultural land should not be allowed 
to be developed, but should be retained for the 
production of a wide range of agricultural and 
horticultural crops.

•  Land classification is already provided as an 
overlay on the TMA mapping.

Q11. Are there areas in your neighbourhood that 
should be protected from development for other 
reasons, such as history or heritage aspects and 
what are these?

Not surprisingly, there was a wide range of positive 
specific responses to this question, which are picked 
up in the mapping suggestions in Appendix 4.

P
age 57



2726 27

Q14. Could the public transport infrastructure in 
your area, or to and from your location, especially 
bus routes, be improved, and, if so, how?

•  Everyone wants a better bus service everywhere, 
this being defined in terms of the right routes, 
at the right times, at the right frequency and 
at the right price. So much is obvious, but the 
question is how to do it? 

•  Smaller buses were mentioned a lot, as 
opposed to the very large ones often used by 
the operators, which are half empty most of the 
time and too big for many settings.

•  Two interesting points were made. The first 
was that when few people used a service, the 
assumption was usually that there was no 
demand, but an alternative view was that the 
service was not right, and that looking at the 
supply side was where to start. The second 
point was that we should start with a blank 
piece of paper and experiment with different 
models of bus service provision, with nothing 
out-of-bounds for consideration.

•  Some of the comments were ‘anti-car’, as 
opposed to ‘pro-bus’ and we need to be careful 
with this, although it probably represents the 
views of a very small number of individuals.

•  The need to get the Finberry bus route opened 
was cited and would be an important link in the 
urban bus routes in Ashford. 

Q15. If there were the opportunity to have 
development in your area, for either housing or 
employment, what would you expect to see as 
accompanying benefits? This could, for example, 
include a better bus service or a new community 
centre or village hall.

•  There was a consistent concern that 
infrastructure  often lagged behind 
development or simply did not appear at all - 
the term embracing roads, school places, GP 
access, hospital capacity, local shops, village 
halls, community facilities like play areas, parks 
& similar, footpath & cycle way upgrades and 
linkages etc. 

•  Developer Contributions were welcomed to 
help provide these things, as well as better bus 
services and a host of other benefits that are 
specific to individual places: upgraded public 
toilets were mentioned, for example.

•  Although most people appreciated the quid pro 
quo involved in the system, there is a sense that 
the level of contributions should be greater, to 
help bridge the infrastructure gap, on the wide 
definition of the term.

The Developers’ View
Discussions have been held with the major 
developers, using the Questionnaire as a rough 
basis for the conversation.

Key views which emerged include:
•  Ashford Borough Council has an Approved 

Local Plan, but all the Allocated Sites in it are 
currently on hold, due to the Stodmarsh 
issue. This is naturally a major concern, not 
least because it opens the door to speculative 
planning applications in inappropriate locations. 
A  solution to the problem will involve both 
wetlands and work by Southern Water, but, 
most importantly, both action and money from 
the government. This is a really urgent matter.

•  There is generally agreed to be a need for more 
Affordable Housing, in its various forms. This 
raises viability considerations, not least because 
of potentially new and expensive requirements, 
such as electric vehicle charging points in 
houses. It may well be that a completely new 
approach is needed to the provision of non-
market housing.

•  Infrastructure costs money; and if we want it 
either before, or earlier, in the construction of 
developments, there is also the issue of forward 
funding. This is tied up with the whole Developer 
Contribution System and the government is 
due to bring forward proposals on this matter, 
as part of their Planning Reforms.

•  There was generally agreed to be a need to 
‘raise the game’, in terms of the design quality 
of developments, on a broad definition of 
the term.

The developers support the thrust of the Land 
Commission’s work, but there are some very 
important issues to resolve, as outlined above.

26

Q12. Do you consider that further areas of ground 
solar development should be allowed in the 
Borough, provided that it is screened and not 
allowed to impact on views?

•  There was a majority of neutral or negative 
opinion on the provision of further ground 
mounted solar. There was a strong view that 
any further sites should be on very poor soils 
and well screened.

•  A large number of parishes expressed strong 
support for the statutory inclusion of solar 
power on all new build houses and commercial 
buildings, as well as the further retrofitting of 
panels on existing buildings.

•  There is nothing that could be mapped, since 
each potential site would have to be assessed 
on its own suitability.

Q13. Do you think that some parts of your 
neighbourhood, parish community or village 
might be suitable for development?

•  Over 60% were against development, with 
20% neutral. A consistent theme, especially 
in the villages, was a desire to have very little 
development, and any that took place should 
be small scale, either individual houses or low 
single-figure schemes.

•  Another consistent theme, everywhere, was a 
desire that development should be much more 
focused on housing that was more affordable, 
in the wide sense of the term, so non-market 
housing for rent or staircase to ownership; 
smaller, cheaper market housing, to enable 
young people to get onto the property ladder 
and older people to downsize etc. Rural 
Local Needs Housing was also mentioned in 
this context.

•  Some respondents in the urban areas spoke 
of the need for a ‘moratorium’ on further 
development, pending infrastructure catching 
up, especially in the context of roads and 
healthcare. The term ‘saturated’ was used by 
one. Some felt that the survey was excessively 
focused on the rural areas and that the 
urban edge of Ashford was being ignored or 
even sacrificed.

•  There was a consistent concern that infrastructure 
often lagged development or simply did not 
appear at all, the term embracing roads, school 
places, GP access, hospital capacity, local shops, 
village halls, community facilities like play areas, 

Q16. Are there any other comments that you 
would like to make about land classification, 
development, the environment or any other 
related issues?

•  The need to sort out the town centre, in terms 
of general tidiness, building fascias and getting 
rid of the ‘rats & gulls’ was mentioned. The Town 
Centre Response Group asked for assistance 
with local listing to protect and manage 
Ashford’s heritage.  

•  There were quite a few references to food 
security and not using agricultural land for 
development for this reason. A related point was 
that agricultural land, although not designated 
(like the AONB or an SSSI), makes an important 
contribution to the character of the Borough 
and the settlements within it. This is visual, as a 
breathing space and also as a habitat for birds 
and other wildlife, even though it is still being 
farmed.

•  Wittersham made the point that most of the 
houses in the village were built in the AONB 
long before it was designated, and that this 
designation now makes it impossible to have 
modest development and was being over 
zealously applied by the planners. However, 
they are not wanting excessive sporadic 
development in the open countryside. 

•  It was suggested that development should 
be more focused on the environment and 
specifically that solar roof tiles should be 
mandatory.

•  Green zones to protect villages and between 
developments are important. These could 
potentially be mapped: see ‘Initial Thoughts 
on Mapping Layers’, on page 28, as well as 
Appendix 4, Data Prioritisation Matrix.

The Business View
A facilitated discussion was held with the Ashford 
Economic Development Group (AEDG) on 17th 
February 2022, organised by the Kent Invicta 
Chamber of Commerce. This was based on the 
Questionnaire which, whilst not being designed to 
be completed in this way, elicited responses that 
generally mirror those of the Parish Councils. 

There were also some new perspectives, amongst 
which was support for bringing Dungeness back 
into operation as a Nuclear Power Station, using the 
Small Modular Nuclear Reactors developed by Rolls 
Royce (SMRs), as a better route to green energy than 
solar farms.

The report is set out in more detail in Appendix 3.

parks & similar, footpath & cycle 
way upgrades and linkages etc.

P
age 58



2726 2928

The Young People’s View
A consultation workshop was held with students 
from the Ashford FE College on 4th May 2022. Seven 
students from Music Technology and three Beauty 
students took part, along with two members of staff. 
This was a lot less than the twenty students that we 
had requested and was also not balanced by gender 
and course-type, as we had also requested. As such, 
the results should be treated with caution and are 
indicative only. The points raised included:

l  The high cost of housing in Ashford and the 
need for more Affordable Homes. Mention 
was made of the need for cheap student 
accommodation, but this conflicts with the way 
FE Colleges are supposed to work and is really 
a subset of the first point.

l  There should be more solar panels on houses 
and other buildings. 

l  Infrastructure, on the wide definition, should 
accompany housing development. Specific 
mention was made of healthcare and schools.

l  Better, cheaper public transport is needed, 
especially buses

l  Cycleways need to be more linked up and 
better maintained.

l  Paths and footways need to be more linked up 
and better maintained

l  There needs to be better lighting generally, to 
make people feel safe.

l  There was support for green space generally 
and for more green space to separate 
developments from each other.

l  The importance of trees was mentioned.
l  The importance of views was mentioned
l  The need to rejuvenate Ashford Town Centre 

was mentioned, with more attractive shops and 
other facilities

l  Students use their cars because public transport 
is poor and then have a problem finding and 
paying for car parking.

Green Spaces  
(move up from desirable to essential)

Access to Green Space  
(move up from desirable to essential)

l  Green Space includes mapped green corridors 
in ALP policies, Open Space Strategy areas, 
Neighbourhood Plan green spaces, identified 
buffer zones in ALP site criteria policies, other 
green spaces and buffer zones that are “in 
discussion.’

l  Buffer zones are green spaces that have 
ownership/guardianship which may, or should, 
include access. The width of a buffer zone can 
vary: in excess of 500 metres, when it separates 
a village from new development, so both could 
have access to the Green Space, dependent 
on arrangements (e.g: Kingsnorth and Park 
Farm) or a much narrower buffer or footway, 
to protect amenity or access between phases 
of development and areas safeguarded e.g.: 
for allotments. These green spaces should be 
‘mappable’, from approved development plans.

Water Courses and Flood Zones  
(not included in the WG2 Matrix)

l  These are two separate mapping layers; both 
are easy to obtain. They are important locally 
to communities - to know, manage and respect 
(e.g: ghylls in Tenterden), to the wider planning 
of the Borough and as potential for wetland 
areas, if this aligns with landowners’ plans. 

 
Views (not included in the WG2 Matrix) 

l ‘ Extensive quality views’ are key criteria for the 
character of many parishes. These include are 
local views - approaches to and views from 
settlements, and landscape scale views such as 
views from North Downs Trail or Pilgrims Way 
in the Borough.  Some of these are on OS tourist 
maps; others are in Neighbourhood Plans 
or Village Design Statements, and the ELMC 
questionnaires. Some are already identified 
as part of development plans e.g.: views from 
St Michael’s church in Tenterden. 

Heritage Assets (not included in the WG2 Matrix)
l  Listed buildings and their settings are key 

elements in the character of an area: in the 
Borough this includes listed farmsteads in the 
open countryside.

l  However, for this mapping project, the emphais 
is more on being aware that buildings that are 
listed (easy to map) need to have their setting, 
not just their curtilage, recognised (less easy 
to map) or should be subject to a local listing: 
some parishes/communities are asking for 
guidance to achieve this.

l  Mapping of these could be noted as desirable, 
but only achievable by a later local mapping 
exercise e.g: as part of a Heritage Strategy 
review. Conservation Area Maps can provide 
a “setting” layer approximation and are easy 
to obtain.

Confines of Ashford  
(not included in the WG2 Matrix)

l  This is the map that doesn’t exist for Ashford 
but does for many villages in the Borough.

l  A consultation process to map the confines 
of Ashford would inform the widely held view 
that there should be limits to the expansion 
of Ashford. This is described in several ways: 
green corridors, strategic gaps, protecting 
gaps between settlements and preventing new 
urban areas enveloping villages. 

l  Before such a process takes place, an 
approximation could be a mapped layer as 
suggested by Wye - an isoline of 1600m around 
the built development of each rural settlement. 
The isoline should realistically include 
committed development.

Areas to be protected from development or 
subject to special conditions  
(not included in the WG2 Matrix) 

l  Conservation Areas are an easy-to-obtain 
mapping layer readily accessible.

l  Heritage having existing listing or potential 
for local heritage listing – especially in  
Ashford Town

l  Neighbourhood Plans where available: made 
or in draft form (e.g: Charing and Aldington & 
Bonnington) identify areas to be protected. 

l  Some parishes have a local open spaces 
strategy (e.g: Biddenden)

l  There are also draft proposals to increase 
designated areas: the Greensand Ridge as 
AONB.

Initial thoughts on Mapping Layers, 
informed by Questionnaire Responses

These are referenced to the WG2 Matrix, which 
also identifies factors and data to be mapped. (See 
Appendix 4). The Matrix box that groups population 
numbers through to economic factors, including 
super output areas, is essential background data 
on the shape of the Borough and will help to 
inform data sets such as “access to green space”, by 
overlaying the population map and green space to 
indicate proximity.

The boxes of particular interest from WG1 work are:

Public Transport (essential and easy-to-obtain) 
l  Map layer settlements in the Borough with 

railway stations.
l Map layers showing areas with bus services at:
l more than one an hour 
l one an hour 
l less than one an hour
l  the limit of area for buses being defined as no 

more than 400metres from bus stop.

Roads by Highway Category and Condition 
(essential and easy-to-obtain)

l A-Roads such as A20, A28, A251, A2070 etc. 
l  B-Roads that are main routes, two-lane roads 

and maintained as such by KCC highways
l  Unclassified rural lanes, typically single-track 

roads with little or no verge & passing places

PROWs, Footpaths, Bridleways, BOATs  
(move up from desirable to essential)

l  Add cycleways, where these are different 
from Bridleways or Byways Open to All Traffic 
(BOATs).

l  Objective is to map the “A-Road equivalents” 
such as national footpaths and cycle or 
bridleways and the “B-Road equivalents” - KCC 
definitive map footpaths and bridleways.

l  The reason is to promote access and wellbeing 
and do so safely - away from road and traffic

l  And managing BOATs to restrict motorised use, 
where this harms other users’ access.

Biodiversity Opportunities:  
(essential and easy to obtain)

l  Map all existing designated areas – SSSIs, SACs, 
RAMSARs and Biodiversity Action areas

l  Some of these are long established substantial 
areas: e.g. Hothfield Common, although some 
may be smaller or more recently designated.

l  These designated biodiversity areas need to be 
overlaid (some will coincide) with:

P
age 59



2726 3130

Conclusions & Next Steps

There are some interesting conclusions that 
spring out of this exercise and there is the genuine 
possibility of creating a database of mapping layers, 
which can be interrogated and used to create an 
Evidence Base to inform the next iteration of the 
Local Plan.

This is particularly important, given the fluidity 
that is evident in the government’s thinking about 
planning generally, and the directly associated areas 
of Levelling-Up and County Deals. 
 
If TMA can indicate which of the mapping 
suggestions:

l  are easy for them
l  could be easy if more specific detail was 

provided
l  are not practical at this stage
-  then this would be helpful for the next stage of 

the project, which should involve merging WG1 
& WG2 in some way, but without creating a 
group that is too large.

To finish, two quotations from the responses to 
the Questionnaire:

l  ‘Better Ashford rather than bigger’
l ‘ Yes, will you actually listen to what we all might 

be saying, or is this another tick box exercise?’

Although most of the responses to the consultation 
were reasonably positive, there is a sense that many 
people feel that planning is something that is ‘being 
done to them’, that the Neighbourhood Plan exercise 
was in some senses a sham and that meaningful 
local involvement is neither available nor wanted. 
That said, there is a hope that the Land Commission 
may be a genuine attempt to canvass opinions that 
will have a bearing on the future shape of Ashford. 
We must make sure that it does. 

Working Group 1     01/06/22

Appendix 3 Appendix 4
Update on the Kent Chamber’s Economic 
Development Group’s response to the 
Consultation

Data Prioritisation Matrix: Factors and Data to be Mapped: WG2

Jo James had met with the Chamber’s economic 
development group for a facilitated discussion 
on the consultation questionnaire. Likewise, she 
had emphasised the importance of the Group’s 
response remaining objective. The main points that 
were raised by the group were that:

l  Development should take regard of the rural 
nature of the Borough and the individuality of 
each village

l  Ashford should not be stopped from 
expanding, therefore, but its rural nature must 
be preserved

l  More development should take place on 
existing brownfield sites

l  Some concern on increasing the carbon 
footprint even further

l  Existing nature trails and green spaces should 
be maximised

l  Public rights of way should be upgraded; quality 
of these routes is important

l  There should be new dedicated services linking 
communities to encourage people out, without 
necessarily being reliant on the car

l  Caution should be taken on assuming solar 
farms are ‘the solution’

l  There are sufficient country parks in the 
Borough, but existing facilities in them should 
be upgraded

l  Land should be maintained for agricultural/food 
production, although some rural community 
uses are changing type (e.g. dairy farming to 
vineyard cultivation) and the effects of this 
might need to be considered

l  More mixed use developments should be 
considered and those uses should be integrated 
(Henwood, Evegate and Mersham)

l  Some commercial developments should be 
replaced with more modern, fit-for-purpose 
expansion

l  Ashford needs a bus station in the town centre 
(Lower Elwick Road)

H
ar

d 
to

 o
bt

ai
n

Ea
sy

 to
 o

bt
ai

n

Essential

Desirable

Primary 
Schools

Secondary 
Schools

LeisureAccess 
to retail

Work 
from 
home

Access to 
leisure

Infrastructure 
Investment

Biodiversity 
opportunities

Roads 
categorized 

by size

Public 
transport

Levelling up 
measures

Population 
Numbers, Age, 

ethnicity, Traveller 
Community, 

Other protected 
characteristics, 

Economic  
factors

Access 
to work

Access 
to green 

space

Census 
areas

Green 
spaces

PRoWs, 
footpaths, 
bridleways 

etc

Broadband, 
fibre, mobile, 
digital access

Building 
types, 

character

Density of 
homes

Work / 
employment 

areas

Utilities 
supply and 

capacity

Retail

P
age 60



Appendix 5
Developing a Resilient Water Future in Ashford

3332

Water is the most fundamental resource to 
healthy lifestyles and is often overshadowed by 
other considerations when planning for long term 
development. It enables us to live and work and is 
key to enabling healthy ecosystems too, therefore it 
is vital to ensure that water resources are protected 
and managed in concert with other aspects of 
development thinking.

The Environment and Land Mapping Commission 
has considered water throughout its work and this 
appendix sets out the key elements that underpin 
the way we believe development should emerge in 
the Borough of Ashford. It is designed to consider 
how we can reconnect with the natural water cycle, 
helping to improve management of wastewater 
and preserve the essential water resources for long 
term resilience through collaborative working with 
our water and wastewater undertakers. Delivery 
depends on all stakeholders adopting a holistic view 
and closing the psychological gap between green, 
blue and grey infrastructure.

Around the world there are strong examples of blue-
green infrastructure designed to support the water 
and sewer networks we depend upon and, with a 
mix of urban, semi-urban and rural areas within the 
Borough, it will be necessary to develop planning 
policy which supports a blend of landscape scale 
initiatives, water-positive design for development, 
and retrofit opportunities too.

There are some key priorities which currently give 
rise to many of the unpleasant impacts we see when 
sewers are less effective than expected or water 
supplies are impacted by operational issues or 
drought.

Storm water entering the sewer network is a 
national challenge and Combined Sewer Outfalls 
(CSO) represent the majority of the much publicised 
releases which were designed to alleviate short 
term pressures and prevent impacts on homes 
and neighbourhoods. The public voice is clear that 
this is no longer an acceptable model and a multi-

stakeholder approach is needed to change the way 
networks designed early last century are modified 
and storm water is prevented from reaching the 
networks at all. This requires collaborative efforts, 
working alongside Southern Water, developers and 
the Environment Agency to develop infrastructure 
which works with nature to capture rainwater, slow 
the flow and divert it away from sewers. No new 
development should be allowed to design drainage 
of surface water to connect to sewers and this 
should be embedded in planning policy to prevent 
developers from reverting to the right to connect 
without first applying the drainage hierarchy set out 
in Document H of The Building Regulations 2010. 
This means water should be drained by:

l  Filtration into the ground (where there is no 
identifiable risk to ground water)

l  Designing for surface water to be directed to a 
water course or surface water body

l  Directing rainwater to a surface water sewer, 
highway drain or other drainage system

l  As a last resort when all other options have 
proven unviable, by connection to a combined 
sewer.

Misconnections in existing properties lead to 
contamination of surface water sewers leading to 
pollution incidents and pressure on the network; 
clarity in planning conditions for new developments 
help to avoid this risk and informing Southern Water 
of any identified misconnections will enable their 
dedicated team to address issues. Collaborative 
working will ensure that the risk of contaminating 
water resources which South East Water rely upon 
is eliminated.

Flood risks can also arise from accumulated Fats, 
Oils and Greases (often referred to as ‘FOG’) building 
into so-called ‘fatbergs’. The solid mass builds up 
preventing sewage from flowing through the sewers 
as they are designed to do. Prevention works in 
known risk areas are scheduled to prevent such build 
up but ultimately prevention at source is far more 
effective. Ensuring that commercial developments 
which will include restaurants or canteens are 
required to install equipment to capture FOG to 
prevent it from entering the sewer will enable the 
system to flow freely. This is particularly beneficial in 
areas which are served by combined sewers keeping 

capacity free when rain water enters the network 
in storm conditions. Working together to share 
information and help to raise public awareness will 
enable a shift in behaviours to ensure only pee, poo 
and toilet paper are passed into the sewer network.

Water scarcity is an increasingly significant challenge 
across the South East of England and promoting 
water efficient design for new development, 
including low consumption fittings inside homes and 
workspaces and options to reduce the use of potable 
water for activities that don’t need super clean water 
such as watering plants, is to be actively encouraged.   
Initiatives, such as rainwater harvesting and grey 
water recycling and encouraging the use of water 
butts in gardens, all help to make the most of every 
single drop of water. Technologies are available 
for new build and retrofit solutions; positive 
leadership will drive change forward with benefits to 
communities and the environment.

Preserving ground water quality to reduce the 
amount of treatment required to achieve drinking 
water quality is a vital element of ensuring resilience 
for the future. Contaminants can enter the water 
cycle in many ways including infiltration from the 
surface. Good design of drainage systems to ensure 
they have sufficient filtration before reaching ground 
water reserves helps to eliminate contaminants in 
surface run off. Installing rain gardens, improving 
verges and considering water in the design of green 
spaces can contribute to improvements.

A further risk to ground water persists from existing 
developments which have historically relied on 
soakaways and septic tanks. Placement of soakaways 
and decline of the condition of septic tanks can 
both lead to contaminants which could be avoided. 
Where extensions and renovations are proposed 
conditions to adapt soakaways and upgrade septic 
tanks can assist with improving these issues. There 
may be potential to link new development with these 
issues: for example, if new sewers are laid on a new 
development next to an existing development which 
has soakaways, a new opportunity to connect to the 
network is created, unlocking new options to adopt a 
multi-stakeholder approach to a persistent problem.

Designing Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) into 
larger developments is now becoming normalised. 
Opportunities to take a holistic landscape scale 
approach, linking development of green space, 
verges and swards using a blue-green infrastructure 
approach to close the gap between new 
developments, would lead to a resilient landscape, 
more capable of managing large volumes of storm 
water and capturing valuable water resources which 
can contribute to tackling the water scarcity issue.

Dependence on grey infrastructure to achieve all this 
is not realistic; the water industry is widely recognising 
the potential of bringing the benefits of blue-green 
infrastructure and nature-based solutions forward to 
support and protect the built infrastructure we have 
relied upon for nearly two centuries. The Victorians 
recognised that a new approach was required to 
improve their society when they designed our current 
infrastructure. As we enter the new Carolean era we 
are called upon to shape a more interconnected 
approach for water which works for society and the 
environment in an affordable way. The work of the 
Environment and Land Mapping Commission affords 
us the opportunity to do so.

Adapting the way we consider green spaces is 
fundamental to this thinking. We have spoken of 
making space for nature: this includes the natural 
water cycle and these spaces can be repurposed 
from clipped grass and paving to more wild areas 
which filter water, slow the flow and, in turn, benefit 
biodiversity. Designing access which prioritises 
nature to enable the ecosystems to work effectively 
can also provide routes which connect people, 
improve disabled access and provide space for 
movement too, providing the opportunity to include 
interpretation assets to help visitors to understand 
the water cycle.

Linking verges and swards with similar thinking 
enables them to be used to capture pollutants such 
as tyre wear and litter before they can reach ground 
water where it becomes a problem for the treatment 
of drinking water.

The Council has a unique opportunity with its role 
in planning to shape a future that will benefit all 
residents and visitors. Focusing on the basics and 
building the relationship with water and sewerage 
undertakers to ensure that development considers 
these approaches we can preserve underground 
assets and treatment works, enhance how future 
infrastructure looks and feels and build resilience 
into our towns and countryside.

Enabling this will require a commitment to a vision of 
the future, in which infrastructure is both built and 
nature-based, working in harmony, reconnecting with 
the water cycle, including the community enabled 
by partnership working with key stakeholders and 
a review of skills to ensure our people are ready to 
lead us towards that vision.

Building a water resilient future is within our gift: 
let’s pass it on to the future residents  
of Ashford Borough.

P
age 61



34

Appendix 6 Appendix 7

Appendix 8

Members of the Commission and their Outside Interests and Affiliations Council Officers who assisted the Commission

Other Contributors to the work of the Commission

Neil Bell   Elected Member – Ashford Borough Council (Conservative)     
Ashford Borough Council Portfolio Holder for Planning & Development

Noel Ovenden   Elected Member – Ashford Borough Council (Leader: Ashford   Independents), Ashford 
Borough Council Chair of Overview & Scrutiny Committee Chair –  Wye Parish Council, 
Member of River Stour (Kent) Internal Drainage Board

Michael Bax   Chair - Weald of Kent Protection Society, Deputy Lieutenant for Kent

Peter Dowling   Clerk & Engineer - River Stour (Kent) Internal Drainage Board

Christine Drury  Chair of Ashford District Committee - Campaign for the Protection of Rural England  
(CPRE), Trustee of Kent Branch (& Vice President until 4.11.22) – CPRE, Chair – Westwell  
Parish Council, Chair of Trustees - Ashford Borough Museum

Nick Fenton   Chair - Kent Housing & Development Group, Chair - Housing & Development Group, 
South East Local Enterprise Partnership, Member - Kent & Medway Economic 
Partnership, Board member - Locate in Kent, Board member - Kent Housing Group, 
Board member - Kent & Medway Business Advisory Board, Board member - North Kent 
SAMMS Project, Board member - Kent Nature Partnership

Jo James   Chief Executive - Kent Invicta Chamber of Commerce, Vice Chair – Kent & Medway 
Economic Partnership, Vice Chair - Kent & Medway Business Advisory Board, Director – 
South East Local Enterprise Partnership

Shona Johnstone  Head of High Growth & New Settlements, Markets, Partners & Places - Homes England

Sandra Norval   Future Growth Lead – Southern Water (includes working with the Kent Water Quality 
Steering Group), Member - Ashford Strategic Delivery Board, Vice Chair & Honorary 
Treasurer – Society for the Environment

Chris Reynolds  Chair of Joint Advisory Committee – Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

David Robey   Elected Member – Ashford Rural South Division Kent County Council Deputy Cabinet 
Member for Economic Development - KCC

Jeremy Smith   Chairman - Ashford Committee, Kent Association of Local Councils (KALC), Member - 
Executive Committee (Governing Body) - KALC, Chairman – Wittersham Parish Council

Professional Advisers [Providing clarification and explanation on factual issues only]

Jeremy Baker   ABC Principal Solicitor & Deputy Monitoring Officer to provide professional advice to the 
Commission and individual Commissioners on matters of Governance and Conduct only

Tracey Butler    ABC Director of Place, Space & Leisure

Simon Cole   ABC Head of Planning & Development to provide professional planning advice on 
proposals to change the planning system from central government and the nature of 
the evidence base necessary for a council to support a subsequent sound local plan

Tom Marchant   KCC Head of Strategic Planning & Policy to provide professional planning advice on 
proposals to change the planning system from central government and the nature of 
the evidence base necessary for a council to support a subsequent sound local plan

Andrew Osborne  ABC Economic Development Manager (includes representing ABC as a member of the 
Ashford College Local College Board)

The Commission Secretariat

Kirsty Hogarth ABC Head of Secretariat  Jeff Sims ABC Senior Communications   
          Officer

Danny Sheppard ABC Member Services Manager Linda Stringer ABC Senior Executive Assistant  
          * (until July 2022)

The members of the Greater Ashford – Environment 
& Land Commission would like to extend their 
special thanks to the following people and 
organisations for their willingness to participate in 
the work of the Commission.

l  Ashford College – to the students and staff for 
hosting and participating in a facilitated workshop

l  Ashford Economic Development Group – for 
participation in a facilitated workshop - through 
Kent Invicta Chamber of Commerce

l  Developers’ Group – for participation in a 
facilitated workshop - through Kent Housing & 
Development Group

l  Sean Fenton – for facilitating the Ashford 
College Workshop

l  Stagecoach South East – for participating in a Q&A 
session with Commission members

l  The Town, Parish & Community Councils, Forums 
and Groups within the borough of Ashford who 
participated in the consultation questionnaire and 
follow-up

l  Various officers of Ashford Borough Council 
for their time and assistance in organising and 
facilitating the Commission’s meetings and work.

December 2022

P
age 62



www.ashford.gov.uk
Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



00701090 
 

 
COUNCIL 

  
27 April 2023 

 
Report of Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer 

 
CONSTITUTION UPDATE 

 
 

1. In the last Annual Governance Statement, a targeted review and update of the Constitution was 
identified as a governance improvement. This was in two parts  
 
(a) an update to better reflect the statutory position regarding ‘Executive Arrangements’  

i.e. decision-making by the Executive 
 

(b) a “re-presentation” of the Constitution to shorten and modernise the 750 page document, 
remove duplication and clarify where necessary . This exercise does not extend to 
making substantive changes to how the Constitution operates.  There are no changes 
to the current arrangements for decision making by members and officers. All 
decisions currently taken by members will continue to be taken by members. 

 
2. The “Executive Arrangements” work was completed and published in December 2022 and 

members were provided with full details via an information Digest and link on 23 December 
2022. 
 

3. Separately, further work has been undertaken in relation to the exercise at 1(b) above. This 
project has been worked on by a combination of external and in-house lawyers and policy and 
member services officers. The table below summarises the main “presentation” updates and 
clarifications across the various parts of the Constitution. 
 
 

CURRENT PART ‘NEW’ PART MAIN CHANGES IN PRESENTATION 
PART1 Summary 
Explanation and 
Glossary 

PART 1 Introduction 
Explanation and 
Glossary 
 

Some material from ‘old ‘ Part 2 (Articles) 
is assimilated into this Part 

PART 2 
Articles of 
Constitution  

NONE: partly merged 
into ‘new’ Part 1 and 
partly into new Part 2 
 

Duplication removed 

PART 3  
Responsibility For 
Functions 

PART 2  
Responsibility For 
Functions 

• Re-presentation 
of Officer Scheme of Delegation taking 
account of current officer structure in 
more user friendly format with 
consequent reduction in volume. Split 
between officer and member 
decision making is unchanged 
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



00701090 
 

• Use of hyperlinks for supporting 
documents not legally required to be 
part of Constitution to be hosted on 
ModGov/website. This will also make 
future updating more efficient eg. 
Portfolio Holder responsibilities, 
procedural documents such as 
“Arrangements” for code of conduct 
complaints, structure diagrams, 
Property Acquisition, Investment and 
Disposal Strategy.  

 
PART 4  
Rules of Procedure 
 

PART 3 
Rules of Procedure 

• A general review to ensure plain 
English in line with corporate guidelines 
and removal of duplication.  Examples 
of duplication include rules around 
contracts repeated in both the Financial 
and Contract Standing Orders. The 
split between member and officer 
decision making is unchanged. 

• Lengthy descriptions of processes 
have been removed in order that there 
is a focus on the Rules. For example, a 
much shorter description of the 
Councillor Call for Action provisions will 
be set out in Part 3 together with a link 
to the full procedural guidance on the 
website. Examples of statutory 
entitlements of the public to be made 
available from a hyperlink. 

• Clarification and simplification of the 
Financial Procedure Rules to provide 
greater clarity of roles and 
responsibilities for each procedure 
aligned to the current senior 
management structure. The split 
between officer and member 
decision making is unchanged. 

• Guidance appended to the Contract 
Standing Orders (CSOs) removed and 
will be hyperlinked. Repetition between 
the Guidance and CSOs also removed. 

• Some general corrections throughout 
to reflect modern working practices eg 
how information is published and 
meeting arrangements. 
  

PART 5  
Codes and Protocols 
 

PART 4  
Codes and Protocols 

N/A 

Page 66



00701090 
 

PART 6  
Members Allowance 
Scheme 

PART 5  
Members Allowance 
Scheme 

Updated and re-presented to remove out 
of date information and to reflect current 
status of Scheme. 
 

PART 7 
Management 
Structure 

NONE- Information 
assimilated into Part 2 

  

 
 

4. It is anticipated that the overall length of the Constitution will be reduced by almost a half. 
 

5. Since different groups have worked on different parts of the Constitution it will be necessary to 
undertake a final consistency and legal verification check prior to production and use of the 
revised format Constitution. This will include ensuring that all relevant substantive provisions of 
the previous Constitution have been carried forward into the appropriate Parts of the revised 
Constitution and making any required corrections after publication. 
 

6. I therefore RECOMMEND that I complete the re-presentation exercise described in this report 
and finalise and publish the Constitution when the final verification process has been 
completed. I will ensure all members are informed at the appropriate time. 
 

7. Following this exercise, there is an opportunity to continue the improvement work by identifying 
areas where change (as opposed to re-presentation) could lead to greater efficiency. Any 
recommendations from such an exercise would need to be brought to the Selection and 
Constitutional Review Committee for consideration in the new municipal year. 
 
T.W. Mortimer 
Solicitor to the Council and Monitoring Officer 
April 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Declarations of Interest
	4 To confirm the Minutes of the Council Meeting held on the 2nd March 2023
	Ashford Borough Council
	325	Exempt or Confidential Items
	326	Declarations of Interest
	328	Announcements
	329	Licensing Committee – 17th January 2023
	330	Regulatory Committee – 17th January 2023
	331	Cabinet – 23rd February 2023.
	332	Council Tax Resolutions and General Fund Budget 2023/24 and Minute Number 311/2/23.
	333	Standards Committee – 31st January 2023
	334	Annual Report of the Council’s Monitoring Officer 2022
	335	Programme of Meetings 2023/24 and 2024/25
	MAY 2023
	W	17
	Th	18	Selection & CR
	JULY 2023
	AUGUST 2023
	SEPTEMBER 2023
	F	15
	OCTOBER 2023
	NOVEMBER 2023
	JANUARY 2024
	FEBRUARY 2024
	APRIL 2024
	MAY 2024
	W	15	Planning
	MAY 2024
	W	15	Planning

	JULY 2024
	AUGUST 2024
	SEPTEMBER 2024
	F	13
	OCTOBER 2024
	NOVEMBER 2024
	JANUARY 2025
	FEBRUARY 2025
	APRIL 2025
	MAY 2025
	W	14	Planning




	8 To receive the Minutes of the Meeting of the Audit Committee held on the 21st March 2023
	Ashford Borough Council: Audit Committee
	Deputy Chief Executive, Head of Internal Audit, Senior Auditor, Senior Auditor, Assistant Director Planning and Development, Team Leader - Plan Making and Infrastructure, Assistant Director Safety and Wellbeing, Safety and Wellbeing Manager, Senior Accountant, Policy & Democratic Services Assistant, Senior Member Services Officer.
	350	Minutes


	9 Greater Ashford Borough Environment and Land Mapping Commission
	Agenda Item No. 10
	Report Title:	 Greater Ashford Borough Environment and Land Mapping Commission – Final report
	Introduction and Background
	Responding to the Commission’s Final Report
	Equalities Impact Assessment
	Consultation Planned or Undertaken
	Conclusion
	Comment from the Leader
	‘The Greater Ashford Borough Environment and Land Mapping Commission exercise has been a huge success and shows the many benefits of engagement with expert practioners from varied backgrounds. The Commission’s outputs have been carefully and fully considered. This report reflects these considerations and I commend the recommendations to the Council.
	Recent discussions between myself and the Leader of the County Council have focused on the Commission, including the process undertaken, and there was strong support to seek to action many of the outputs in a collaborative way and also explore whether such a process could work outside of the borough’.
	Contact and Email

	Greater Ashford Borough Environment and Land Mapping Commission Report

	10 Ashford Borough Council Constitution
	14 Possible Indemnity for a Councillor

